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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 
1- Introduction 

 
National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (the ‘Bank’ or ‘NBQ’ or “Group”) is a Public Shareholding Company incorporated in 
Umm Al Qaiwain by Amiri Decree Number (1) on 5 January 1982 issued by His Highness, the Ruler of Umm Al Qaiwain 
and commenced its operations with effect from 1 August 1982. The local government of Umm Al Qaiwain is the largest 
shareholder and promoter of the Bank. The Bank is engaged in providing Retail and Corporate banking services through a 
network of 11 branches in the United Arab Emirates (UAE). The Bank maintains consistently high capital adequacy and 
liquidity ratios which demonstrates the financial resilience developed through robust Corporate Governance and financial 
disciplines. 
    
2-Vision, Mission and Values 

  
Our Vision 
To be a bank of first choice, offering innovative financial services, built on trust, integrity and driven by a passion for 
excellence. 
 
Our Mission 
To maximize value and growth for all our stakeholders by delivering premium banking services and attracting and retaining 
our target customer groups. 
 
Our Core Values 
People orientation, customer orientation, performance. 

 
1- Customer 

• service excellence 
• customer confidentiality 
• meet and exceed customer expectations 

 
2- Performance 

• Recognize and reward outstanding performance 
• Ensure continuous productivity 
• Focused on efficiency 
• Delegate authority, responsibility and empowerment 
• Committed to learning and development 

 
3- People 

• Personal integrity 
• Open communications 
• Value and recognize teamwork 
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3. Corporate Governance System, Procedures and Implementation 

The Bank has robust corporate governance policies and highly effective risk management functions, which contribute to the 

success of the organizational goals and this augments its culture. It has the highest standards of corporate governance, which 

provides confidence and trust to our stakeholders. The Bank has a Board consisting of seven members – they all have the requisite 

industry knowledge and have Board committees with specific functional responsibilities. The Bank has framed policies to ensure 

that the Directors are involved in the Bank and work in its best interests. The Board also provides strategic direction to the senior 

management. The majority of the Directors are independents and the Bank complies with the requirements of Securities and 

Commodities Authority, ADX and Central Bank of UAE.   
 

First line of defense    : Business units  

Second line of defense : Support units and control functions  

Third line of defense : Assurance and auditing  
 

Note: Please also refer to the Corporate Governance Section contained in the Annual Report. We have committees as explained 

below and they are governed by properly mandated Charters that are approved by the Board of Directors. Charters are reviewed 

periodically and suitable changes are made based on the industry changes and changes in the internal controls environment.   

 

4. Internal Control, Risk Management Governance Matters 
NBQ Internal Control Framework provides a common understanding of the internal control responsibilities of all Bank’s 

employees.  The effective internal control system is a basic standard for both the operational and financial integrity of results, and 

is an integral component of a well-managed, quality operation. 

 

The main objective of internal control system in NBQ is to assist the bank perform better using its resources. Through internal 

control system, the bank identifies its weaknesses and takes appropriate measures to overcome the same.  

 

 

Primary Objectives of Internal Control: 

 
• Efficiency and effectiveness of activities (performance objectives). 
• Reliability, completeness and timelines of financial and management information. 
• Compliance with applicable laws and regulations (compliance objectives). 
• Ensure systematic and orderly recording of transactions.  
• Provide reasonable assurance that undesired events will be prevented or detected and corrected. 
 
 
NBQ internal Control Framework is a set of principles structured into five interrelated components: 
 

 
Control Environment:  
• Demonstrate Commitment to integrity 

and ethical values 
• Establishing oversight responsibilities 
• Founding  Structure, Responsibility, 

and Authority 
• Exhibit Commitment to Competence, 
Enforce Accountability 

 
Risk Assessment: 
• Define Objectives & Risk Tolerance 
• Identify, analyze & respond to risk 
• Assess fraud risk 
• Analyze response to change 
 
Risk appetite is established and aligned 
with strategy while serving as a basis for 
identifying, assessing, and responding to 
risk.  
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Control Activities: 
• Design control activities 
• Design activities for the information 

System 
• Implement Control activities 
 

Risks that may impact the 
accomplishment of strategy and 
business objectives need to be 
identified and evaluated. Risks are 
ranked by severity in the context of risk 
appetite. The organization then selects 
risk responses and takes a portfolio 
view of the amount of risk it has 
assumed. The results of this process are 
reported to key risk stakeholders 

 

 
Information & Communication 
• Use Quality information 
• communicate internally 
• communicate externally 
 
Continual process of obtaining and sharing 
necessary information, from both internal 
and external sources, which flows up, 
down, and across the Bank.  

 

 
Monitoring 
• Perform Monitoring Activities 
• Remediate Deficiencies 

 
 
NBQ internal Control frame work mandates all business units of NBQ to support and maintain a system of internal control that is 
optimized to provide stockholders, the Board of Directors, and management with an assurance, based on a weighing of costs and 
benefits, that:  

• Transactions are executed in accordance with Management's general or specific authorization.  
• Transactions are recorded as necessary,  
• To permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 
• To maintain accountability and responsibility for assets and bank resources.  
• Transactions are consummated at reasonable cost, beneficial and necessary for the business of the Bank.  
• Access to assets and resources is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific authorization.  
• Recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is 

taken with respect to any differences. 
• Financial information is released outside access bank only upon proper corporate authorization and after consideration 

of the interest of the bank.  
• Complete and accurate records and accounts are maintained to reflect transactions and the disposition of assets. 
• Business Objectives will be met. 
• Compliance with Applicable and Regulations of Other Regulatory Agencies 

 
Basel Implementation   

NBQ adheres to CBUAE guidelines issued for Basel III compliance vide notice CBUAE/BSD/N/2020/4980, including submission 
of annual ICAAP report to Central Bank of the UAE. During the year 2022, CBUAE published ICAAP guidelines vide notification 
CBUAE/BSD/2022/5280 dated 30/12/2022. 

Stress tests are regularly carried to assess credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk in the banking book and equity price risk.  
Results reveal that NBQ is comfortably placed in line with the risk profile and there is substantial buffer between available capital 
and regulatory capital to cover any unexpected losses from other risks as well. 
 
Risk Management  

Risk department comprises of Credit Risk, Market Risk, Operational Risk, Information security compliance and Fraud Risk 
Management Units. Its key responsibilities include (i) Supporting the Board to review and approve bank wide risk governance 
framework and implement the same.(ii) Developing a risk governance, risk management framework, risk appetite and policies and 
procedure to facilitate business to grow within acceptable risk criteria.(iii) Identifying material individual, aggregate and emerging 
risks, (iv)Assess and measure these risks (v)Ongoing monitoring to ensure risk taking activities and risk exposure are in line with 
the Board approved risk appetite, risk limits and corresponding capital or liquidity needs. (vi) Establishing an early warning or 
trigger system to ensure that breaches to the risk appetite are reported to the Risk committee/Board (vii) Influencing and when 
necessary challenging material risk decision (viii) Periodic reporting of risk matters to Senior Management and the Board or Board 
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Risk committee (ix) Planning the Bank’s ICAAP and Capital Management analysis, including Pillar II capital assessment models 
and Stress Testing; and other Basel III reporting (x) Developing and managing the Bank’s IFRS9 Model models and computation 
of of ECL, ensuring appropriate governance controls are in place and in line with internal and regulatory expectations (xi) Conflict 
of interest in all credit matters is avoided. Underwrites do not have any business targets 

Compliance Function  

The compliance department of the Bank acts as 2nd line of defense. The department functions under the guidelines issued by 
CBUAE, FIU and international agencies on various aspects of Customer onboarding, KYC/CDD, Sanctions Screening, AML/CFT 
transaction monitoring, Regulatory guideline implementation and reporting. During the year, the compliance department was 
strengthened by the recruitment of staff in key functional areas of Quality Assurance and MLRO and introduction of a new AML 
monitoring system. The department has a direct reporting to the Board Risk Committee which act as a platform for discussing and 
guidance on regulatory matters. Moreover the department also makes presentations to the Audit Committee as well as the Board 
of Directors to appraise them on critical matters relating to compliance. The Board is actively involved in providing action points 
as well as guidance to ensure that all the requirements as laid out in the regulations as well as the Law of the country are adhered 
to. The compliance team members are qualified and trained to handle the various desks handled by them. 
 

 
 Senior Management 

Senior management staff as per the regulatory definition includes Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Risk 
Officer, Head of Internal Audit and Head of Compliance.  Bank maintains a fit and proper guide for the recruitment of the senior 
management officials and obtains the approval of Central Bank after the candidate is identified by the Bank and approved at the 
Nominations and Remunerations Committee.  Remuneration structure is also fixed and assessed at the Board Committee level and 
revised as their decisions. NBQ has an efficient team of Senior Management officials who are experienced and qualified in 
discharging key management functions. They are delegated with the responsibility of managing the affairs of the bank in a 
professional manner while managing the internal control, compliance, governance with risk management focus.  Board of Directors 
through their Committees directs the Senior Management Team to apply due diligence and caution to protect the interests of the 
bank and its shareholders. 

 

5- Statement of Ownership and Transactions of Board Members, Spouses ,and Children During 2022 
 

Total sale and purchase transactions during 2022 is: Nil  

 
6- Board of Directors and Their Details 
 
Board Composition, Appointment and Period of Membership 
 
NBQ is a listed company and is established as per the UAE laws and in accordance with the Federal Laws related to commercial 
companies. As per the Articles of Association (Article No:19) bank’s activities are overseen by seven elected directors including 
Chairman and Vice Chairman.  These directors are elected for a period of three years.  

The present directors were elected in the Annual General Meeting held on 15/03/2020, and term ends in 2023 and hence election 
of the Board of Directors are to be held in the Annual General Meeting to be held on 9th March 2023.   

In 2022, Board was composed of 4 Independent, Non-executive Directors and 3 Non-independent, Non-executive Directors as of 
31/12/2022.  

Selection of the Board of Directors 

Board members are elected through a process of secret Ballot and nominations are screened at the Nominations and Remunerations 
Committee which is held for the purpose.  All the nominations are screened thoroughly with the qualifications and experience the 
candidates possess. 

Publication for the nomination for the Board membership will be done in the newspapers as prescribed by the law and it would be 
kept open for the period of at least ten days and the list of candidates is sent to the Central Bank of the UAE for approval.   

Based on the Central Bank’s approval, Board Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nominations and Remunerations Committee 
for the review and validation of the final short list of the candidates.  The proceedings of the meetings will be minuted for records 
and for future references.   Final list is then sent to the Securities and Commodities Authority and Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange 
and published in the official website of NBQ.  
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Responsibilities of the Board of Directors 

Board of directors are responsible for all the activities of the bank ranging from establishing a corporate governance framework, 
establishing risk management strategies, maintaining internal control culture and processes, developing long term strategies and 
creating corporate values.     

Their main responsibilities include but not limited to the following:- 

• Developing a strong risk culture through its operations within the established risk appetite and risk limits set for the 
transactions considering the competitive and regulatory landscape. 

• Setting strategies which uphold the corporate values and create targets and expectations to the Senior Management 
through the Key Performance Indicators for their performance.  

• Ensure that all the business is conducted in a legal and ethical manner across the functions and rendering the Senior 
Management responsible for any violations.  

• Maintain proper communication with the Senior Management in all important and critical matters and render them 
accountable for actions which are not as per the expectations of the board.   
 

In short, Board must ensure that Senior Management acts as per the expectations of the Board in implementing systems, processes, 
controls and apply proper risk management strategies as per the regulatory standards and ethical standards set which includes 
independent risk management, internal control and Audit and Compliance functions 

S
r 

Name 
Category (executive, 
non-executive, and 
independent) 

The period 
spent as a 
Board 
member from 
the date of the 
first election 

Membership and positions at any 
other joint-stock companies 

Positions in any 
other important 
regulatory, 
government or 
commercial 
positions 

1 
H.H. Sheikh Rashid 
Bin Saud Al Mualla 

Non-executive 
 
Non-independent 

Approx. 12 
years. 
 
(Elected as 
Chairman of 
NBQ in 
February 
2011) 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of  
National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain psc 

 
H H Shk. Rashid 
is the Crown 
Prince of Umm 
Al Qaiwain 
Emirate and the 
Chairman of 
Executive 
Council of Umm 
Al Qaiwain.   

2 
Shk. Nasser Rashid 
AbdulAziz Al 
Moalla. 

Non-executive 
 
Non-independent 

Since 1982 
(41 years) 

 
1)National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of 
Directors of NBQ and Chairman of the 
Executive Committee and the Credit 
Committee  and member of 
Nominations and Remuneration 
Committee 
 
2)Union Insurance company PSC: 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 

 
 
 

N/A 

3 
Mr Marwan Abdulla 
Hassan Al Rostamani 

Non-executive 
 
Non-independent 

Approx. 17 
years. 
 
(Elected in 
2006) 

  

1) Al Rostamani Group: 
Chairman of the Board of Directors 
  

2)Dubai Insurance Company: 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of 
Directors 
  

3)National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Member of the Board of Directors of  
National Bank of UAQ  & Chairman of 
Nominations & Remuneration 
Committee & member of Real Estate 
Evaluation Review Committee.  

N/A 
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4 
Shaikh Sager Saud 
Rashed Ahmed Al 
Mualla. 

Non-executive 
 
Independent 

15 March 
2020 till date  

 
National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Member of the Board of Directors of  
National Bank of UAQ  and Chairman 
of Real Estate Evaluation Review 
Committee and member of Executive 
Committee and the Credit Committee 
   

Chairman, 
Smart 

Government 
Department in 

UAQ 

5 
Mr.Abdulla 
Mohamed Salih Al 
Zarooni 

Non-executive 
 
Independent 

Approx. 6 
years. 
 
(Elected in 
2017) 
  

 
1)National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Member of the Board of Directors of  
National Bank of UAQ and Chairman 
of Audit Committee and member of 
Risk Committee and member of  
Executive Committee and member of  
the Credit Committee. 
 
2) Al Buhaira National Insurance psc 
Co: Member of the Board of Directors 
of Al Buhaira National Insurance Co 
Psc since 2022. 
 

Member of the 
Board of 

Directors of 
Marsa Umm Al 
Quwain LLC 

6 
Mr.Ali Rashed 
Sultan AlKaitoob  

Non-executive 
 
Independent 

15 March 
2020 till date 

 
1)National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Member of the Board of Directors of 
National Bank of UAQ and Chairmain 
of the Risk Committee, and member of 
Audit Committee and member of Real 
Estate Evaluation Review Committee 
and member of Nominations and 
Remuneration Committee, from 15 
March 2020 till date. 
 
2) Union Insurance psc Co : 
Vice-Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Chairman of Audit 
Committee, from 10-June-2021 till 
date. 
 

Registered 
Accounting and 
Banking Expert 
in Dubai Court 
(Government). 

7 
Mr.Ahmed Mohamed 
Dhaen Al Nuaimi. 

Non-executive 
 

Independent 

15 March 
2020 till date 

 
National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain: 
Member of the Board of Directors of 
National Bank of UAQ and member of 
Audit Committee and member of Risk 
Committee. 

N/A 

http://www.nbq.ae/


   
 

www.nbq.ae                                                                                                                                                                                                                             9 
 

 
Female Representation in the Board - 2022  

The election of the Board of Directors for the three years was made on 15 March 2020. Due to the non-availability of any 
other candidates during the AGM meeting of 15/03/2020, there was no female representation for the Board election period 
from 2020 to 2023. The Bank agreed to comply with the requirement of the Corporate Governance guidelines regarding 
female representation and will continue with the same, however, NBQ did not receive any nominations from any female 
candidates during the AGM for the year 2020.   

Board of Directors Remuneration    

According the Laws and Articles of Association, Board of director’s remuneration should not exceed 10% of the annual 
profit.  As such, the Board of Directors remuneration is proposed by the Board and is approved at the Annual General 
Meeting every year.  No sitting fees are payable to the Directors for attending the Board meetings. 

1-Total remunerations paid to the Board members for the fiscal year 2021: 

The shareholders approved the remuneration of the Board of Directors of AED 2,800,000/- (in addition to the value-added 
tax of 5%) for the fiscal year 2021, through the Annual General Assembly meeting of the National Bank of Umm Al 
Qaiwain held on 14 March 2022. 

2-Proposal concerning the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors for the year 2022: 

The proposal concerning the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors for the year 2022 will be presented at 
the Annual General meeting to be held on 9th March 2023, a proposal will be AED 2,800,000/- ,The decision to adopt the 
remuneration proposal will be left to the General Assembly. There are no allowances, salaries or additional fees received 
by a member of the Board of Directors in 2022, other than allowances for attending Board Sub committees. 

7-   Board Meetings 

The number of the Board of Directors meetings held during the 2022 fiscal year along with their convention dates, personal 
attendance times of all members, and members attending by proxy: 

During the year 2022, Eight (8) Board meetings of the National Bank of Umm Al Quwain were held: 

Name of 
Director 

H.H. Shk 
Rashid Al 
Mualla 

Shk. 
Nasser 
Al 
Moalla 

Shk.Sager 
Al Mualla 

Mr 
Marwan 
Al 
Rostamani 

Mr 
Abdulla 
Al 
Zarooni 

Mr 
Ahmed 
Al 
Nuaimi 

Dr Ali 
Al 
Kaitoob 

Meeting 1 
06/01/2022 

YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 2 
05/02/2022 

YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 3 
09/02/2022 

YES YES NO YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 4 
21/04/2022 

NO YES YES YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 5 
09/06/2022 

NO YES NO YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 6 
23/06/2022 

YES YES YES YES YES YES NO 

Meeting 7 
09/11/2022 

YES YES YES YES YES YES YES 

Meeting 8 
21/11/2022 

NO YES NO YES YES YES YES 

Number of 
attendees by 

proxy 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
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8- Board Resolutions During 2022 

Some of Board resolutions during the 2022 fiscal year, along with its meeting convention dates:  

Sr No Decision Ratification 
date 

1 Review and approve of Draft of Audited consolidated Financial statement and independent 
auditor’s report of NBQ and subsidiary company for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

09/02/2022 

2 The Board of Directors of NBQ approved to increase the bank’s capital from AED 
1,848,000,015  to AED 2,000,000,000, through the issuance of 151,999,985 bonus shares 
at a rate of 8.225% of the bank’s capital distributed to the bank’s shareholders in proportion 
to the shares owned by each of them, bringing the bank’s capital after issuing the bonus 
shares to Two billion Dirhams in line with UAE Central Bank Circular No. 12 of 2021 
issued on April 25, 2021, which stipulates a minimum capital for national banks of no less 
than Two billion dirhams, and to place it for shareholders’ approval. 

21/04/2022 

3 Board approved the Authority list for approving capital/revenue expenditures with effect -
-from 01/07/2022 
 

09/06/2022 

4 Lending against Equity shares  - Review of listed shares approved to take as collateral 
 

09/06/2022 

5 Approve Finance National Housing Loans Product 09/11/2022 
6 Board approved the Institutional oversight and governance Policy.  

 
09/11/2022 

7 Board approved the Human Resources & Emiratization committee charter 21/11/2022 
8 Board approved to place Remuneration Policy for the Board of Directors of NBQ and Its 

committees, executive management, and employees for the annual general assembly 
approval. 
 

21/11/2022 

 

9. Powers delegated to the Executive Management Members 

Statement of Board duties and powers exercised by Board members or the executive management members during 2022 based 
on an authorization from the Board, specifying the duration and validity of the authorization according to the following schedule:  

Sr. No, 
Name of the Authorized 

Person 
Power of Authorization Duration of Authorization 

1 N/A N/A N/A 
 

 
10- Statement of the Details of Transactions with Related Parties (Stakeholders) During the Year 

2022. 

The Bank consistently discloses the related party transactions in their financial statements which are audited by external auditors. 
Management reviews the movements of related party transactions and when the deals are conducted. The Bank discloses the 
transactions and dealings with the related parties and the disclosures are maintained as per the relevant accounting standards and 
are verified by the external auditors through their quarterly review and yearly audits. Related party disclosure for the year 2022 
is disclosed in the financial statements under note number 27.  
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11-  NBQ Organization Structure    

 

12- NBQ Management Structure     
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13- Senior Executive Management     

A detailed statement of the senior executives in the first and second grade according to the company organizational structure, 
their jobs and dates of their appointment with a statement of the total salaries and bonuses paid to them, according to the following 
table 

Sr. No 1 2 3 4 5 6 

Name 
Adnan Al 
Awadhi 

K.G. Pradeep Mike Tufail B.V.Patnaik 
Mourad Ali 

Saidani 
Adnan 

Sajwani 

Position 
Chief 

Executive 
Officer 

Acting Chief 
Operation 

Officer/CFO 

AGM- Head 
of 

Retail 
Banking 
Group 

Head of Risk 
Head of 
Internal 
Audit 

Head of 
Compliance 

Appointment 
date 

03/01/2021 27/06/1992 29/06/2008 09/08/2006 13/01/1996 01/03/2020 

Total salaries and 
allowances 
paid for  the year 
2022 

 
4,644,000 (total salaries paid during the year) 

Total 
remuneration 
paid for the year 
2022(Bonuses) 

 
192,637 (fixed bonus paid) 

Any other cash 
rewards for the 
year 2022/due in 
the future 

 
NA 

 

14-   External Auditor 
 

 Overview of the company auditor to shareholders: 
 

External Auditor 
 

Ernst & Young (EY) was appointed as external auditors of the Bank and the Group for the year 2022. EY conducts the 
quarterly audit and the year-end Financial Statements. It is one of the leading auditing firms worldwide. 

 
Statement of fees and costs for the audit or services provided by the external auditor: 

 

 
Name of the audit office and partner auditor: 

 
Ben Wareing – Ernst and Young - Dubai 

Number of years he served as the Bank external auditor 
 

2 Years 

The number of years that the partner auditor spent auditing the 
company's accounts 

2 Years 

Total audit fees for 2022 in (AED) 
Fees were set at AED.475,000/- + VAT. 
 

Details and nature of the other services carried out by the bank's 
external auditor (if any). If there are no other services, this matter 
shall be stated expressly. 
 

No other services provided by EY 

Fees and costs of other private services other than auditing the 
financial statements for 2022 (AED), if any, and in case of 
absence of any other fees, this shall be expressly stated. 

 No other fees 
 

Statement of other services that an external auditor other than the 
Bank accounts auditor provided during 2022 (if any). In the 
absence of services provided by another external auditor, this 
shall be stated explicitly 

Auditor: PwC 
Assessment of UAE Information Assurances 
Services conducted. 
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Statement clarifying the reservations that the Bank External auditor included in the interim and annual financial 
statements for 2022, and In the absence of any reservations, this must be stated explicitly: 

 
No qualified opinions were made by the Bank's external auditor in the quarterly and annual financial statements for the 
year 2022. 

 
15-  Board Audit Committee 

A.   Introduction  

1. Objectives 

Board Audit Committee is a Board level Committee of Directors that ensures the independence of external and internal 

auditors, the effectiveness of internal control systems, a controlled environment, oversees the integrity of the financial 

reporting process, and reviews the adequacy of compliance relating to local laws, Stock Exchange, Central Bank and 

other statutory regulations. 

The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities in  
 

 
Respect of the following:  
1. External audit of Financial Statements. 

2. Financial reporting processes. 

3. Internal Audit Function. 

4. Internal control systems. 

 
B.     Name of Audit Committee Members, Their Competencies and Tasks   

Committee Members Membership Status on Board  Position on the Committee 

Mr. Abdulla Mohamed Salih Al Zarooni Independent Chairman 

Mr. Ali Rashed Sultan AlKaitoob Independent Member 

Mr. Ahmed Mohamed Dhaen Al Nuaimi Independent Member 

 

 C.   Number of meeting of meeting held during 2022 

Number of meetings held by the Audit Committee and their dates to discuss matters related to financial  statements and 
any other business: 

Sr. No Meeting No Date 
1 (01/2022) 27/01/2022 

2 (02/2022) 03/03/2022 

3 (03/2022) 30/06/2022 

4 (04/2022) 19/07/2022 

5 (05/2022) 13/10/2022 
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16-  Nomination & Remunerations Committee 
 

A. Introduction  
 

Nomination and Remunerations Committee is a permanent committee comprising of Directors to address strategic 
human resource issues. It provides assistance and support to the Board of Directors in fulfilling the responsibilities to 
the shareholders in respect of the composition of the Board, independence of the Directors, avoidance of conflict of 
interest, determination of core executive management, assessment of skills of human resources and remuneration 
matters and its strategic alignments with business objectives and value creation of the Bank. The main objective of 
this Charter is to build a performance-driven culture in the organization. 

 
B- Names of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee members, their competencies and tasks 

assigned to them:  
 

Committee members Membership status on Board Position on the Committee 
Mr. Marwan Abdulla Hassan Al Rostamani Non-independent Chairman 

Shk.. Nasser Rashid AbdulAziz Al Moalla Non-independent Member 

Mr. Ali Rashed Sultan AlKaitoob Independent Member 

 

 C- Number of Meetings held during 2022  
 
Statement of the number of meetings held by the Committee and their dates, and statement of all Committee members' 
attendance of times:  

 
Sr. No. Meeting No. Date 

1 (01/2022) 24/02/2022 
2 (02/2022) 20/09/2022 

 
 

D- Committee to Follow up and Supervise the Dealings of Insiders: 
 

Board is handling the insider’s job.  If there are any material movements of the shares, then the discussion of this 
happens at the Top Level. Bank has established an insider policy for compliance.   

 
 

17-  Board Risk Committee 
   

A- Introduction 

Objectives 
Board Risk Committee is a Board level Committee of Directors, which ensures the effectiveness of risk management 
process and assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities in respect of the Risk Management Function. 

 
 B. Name of Committee Members, Their Competencies and Tasks Assigned  

 
Names of Risk committee member, clarifying its competencies and tasks assigned.  

Committee members Membership status on Board Position on the Committee 
Mr.Ali Rashed Sultan AlKaitoob Independent Chairman 

Mr.Abdulla Mohamed Salih Al Zarooni Independent Member 

Mr.Ahmed Mohamed Dhaen Al Nuaimi. Independent Member 
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C. Number Number of Meeting Held in 2022 

Statement of the number of meetings held by the Risk Committee, their dates and all Committee members' attendance 
times.   

Sr. No. Meeting No Date 
1 (01/2022) 23/03/2022 

2 (02/2022) 30/03/2022 

3 (03/2022) 19/05/2022 

4 (04/2022) 11/08/2022 

5 (05/2022) 18/08/2022 

6 (06/2022) 25/10/2022 

 
18   Real Estate Evaluation Review Committee 

 

A- Introduction 
 

Objectives 
 

The Real Estate Evaluation Review Committee is a Board level Committee of Directors, which: 
a) Ensures optimization on an acquisition of real estate securities belonging to distressed borrowers of the Bank. 
b) Ensures that real estate portfolio is on optimum credit terms. 

 

B- Names of the Committee Members  
 

Names of Committee Members, clarifying its competencies and tasks assigned: 
 

Committee Members Membership Status on the Board Position on the Committee 
Shaikh Sager Saud Rashed Al Mualla Independent Chairman 
Mr.  Marwan Al Rostamani Non-independent Member 
Dr. Ali Rashed Sultan AlKaitoob Al Nuaimi Independent Member 

 

C- Number of Meeting Held in 2022  
 

Statement of the number of meetings held by the Committee, their dates and Committee members' attendance.   
 

Sr No Meeting No Date 
1 (01/2022) 20/04/2022 

 
 

19     Executive Committee 
 

A- Names of the Committee Members   
 

Committee Members Membership status on the Board Position on the Committee 
Sheikh Nasser Rashid Al Moalla   Non-independent Chairman 
Shaikh Sager Saud Rashed Al Mualla Independent Member 
Mr.  Abdullah Mohammed Saleh Al-Zarouni Independent Member 

 
B- The Committee Meetings attended by:   

1) Chief Executive officer (Member) 
2) Acting Chief operation officer/Chief Financial Officer (Member)  
3)  Head of Risk 
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20     Credit Committee 

 

A- Names of the Committee Members  
 

Committee members Membership status on the Board Position on the Committee 
Sheikh Nasser Rashid Al Moalla   Non-independent Chairman 
Shaikh Sager Saud Rashed Al Mualla Independent Member 
Mr. Abdullah Mohammed Saleh Al-Zarouni Independent Member 
 
B- The Committee Meetings attended by: 

 

1) Chief Executive officer  
2) Acting Head of Corporate Banking Services. 
3) Head of Risk  
4) Head of Credit Approvals  

  

 21-    Internal Control Framework 
 

The internal Control Framework is a set of principles structured into five interrelated components:  
 

• Control Environment: Governance sets the organization’s tone, underlining the significance of, and establishing 
oversight responsibilities for Enterprise Risk Management. Culture relates to ethical values, desired behaviors, and 
understanding of risk in the organization. 

 

• Risk Assessment: A risk appetite is established and aligned with strategy while serving as a basis for identifying, 
assessing, and responding to risk.  

 

• Control Activities: Risks that may impact the accomplishment of strategy and business objectives need to be identified 
and evaluated. Risks are ranked by severity in the context of risk appetite. The organization then selects risk responses 
and takes a portfolio view of the amount of risk it has assumed. The results of this process are reported to key risk 
stakeholders.  

 

• Information and Communication: Enterprise risk management requires a continual process of obtaining and sharing 
necessary information, from both internal and external sources, which flows up, down, and across the organization.  

 

• Monitoring: By assessing entity performance, an organization can consider how well the enterprise risk management 
components are functioning over time and considering significant changes, and what revisions are needed. 

 

The term "Internal Controls" refers to the overall operating framework of practices, systems, organizational structures, 
management philosophy, code of conduct, policies and procedures and actions which exist in the BANK and designed to:   

• Ensure that essential business objectives are met including the effectiveness and efficiency of operations and the 
safeguarding of assets against loss.  

• Ensure the reliability of financial reporting and compliance with general accounting principles.  
• Ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.  
• Ensure systematic and orderly recording of transactions.  
• Provide reasonable assurance that undesired events will be prevented or detected and corrected. 
 
 

The primary objective of internal control system in NBQ is to help the bank perform better using its resources. Through 
internal control system, the bank identifies its weaknesses and takes appropriate measures to overcome the same. The main 
objectives of internal control are as follows: 
• Efficiency and effectiveness of activities (performance objectives).  
• Reliability, completeness and timelines of financial and management information (information objectives) 
• Compliance with applicable laws and regulations (compliance objectives) 
 
 

NBQ internal Control frame work mandates all business units of NBQ to support and maintain a system of internal control 
that is optimized to provide stockholders, the Board of Directors, and management with an assurance, based on a weighing 
of costs and benefits, that:  
• Transactions are executed in accordance with Management's general or specific authorization.  
• Transactions are recorded as necessary, 
• To permit preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. 
• To maintain accountability and responsibility for assets and bank resources.  
• Transactions are consummated at reasonable cost, beneficial and necessary for the business of the Bank.  
• Access to assets and resources is permitted only in accordance with management's general or specific authorization.  
• Recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is 

taken with respect to any differences. 
• Financial information is released outside access bank only upon proper corporate authorization and after consideration 

of the interests of the bank.  
• Complete and accurate records and accounts are maintained to reflect transactions and the disposition of assets. 
• Business Objectives will be met. 
• Compliance with Applicable Laws and Regulations of Other Regulatory Agencies 
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The Internal Audit & Control Department (IACD) is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Internal Control 
Framework Standards. 
IACD is the fourth line of defense after the Front Office, Risk Management and Operational Risk Management/Compliance 
functions. 
 
Internal Auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve the 
Bank's operations. It helps the Bank accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate 
and improve the effectiveness of risk management, control and corporate governance. 
 
The IACD assesses and makes appropriate recommendations to improve the Bank's governing process for making strategic 
and operational decisions. It oversees risk management and control, promoting appropriate ethics and values, ensuring 
effective organizational performance management and accountability, communicating risk and control information to 
appropriate areas of the Bank. It also coordinates the activities of and communicating information among, the Board, 
external and internal auditors, other assurance providers and management 
 
In addition to the above, the IACD assesses the design, implementation, and effectiveness of the Bank's ethics-related 
objectives, and if there is proper documentation. It adopted the following steps while performing all types of audits /checks: 
risk identification, risk assessment, risk prioritization, response planning and risk monitoring. Two factors were used to 
assess the risk exposure: loss frequency or probability and loss severity. 
 

22- Internal Control System        

• Ensure that Bank has a comprehensive policy on internal control and is well communicated (all Bank policies are 
approved by Board). 

• Ensure that all highlighted critical observations to the business are escalated to management and Board Audit Committee 
to set a further course of action. 

   
A- Board Audit Committee responsibilities are as follows: 

 

a) Review interim and annual audited financial with management, external auditor and the Head of Internal Audit before 
presenting them to Board. It focuses on any changes in accounting policies and practices and their impact on the 
financial statements, major accounting entries based on the exercise of judgment by management including provision 
requirements, management overview of financial results for the quarter/year and executive session with senior 
financial management, significant and unusual and complex transactions and accounting estimates adopted in 
preparing financial statements, current developments in auditing, accounting, reporting and disclosure requirements. 

b) Review the annual financial plan and budget – and monitor its performance quarterly against the actual performance. 
c) Discuss the financial information and earnings guidance provided to the external analysts and rating agencies. 
d) Approve the appropriate systems for internal control, including internal controls over financial reporting and for the 

detection and prevention of frauds and errors. 
e) Consider the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control system, including information system/ technology security 

and control. 
f) Understand the scope of internal and external auditors’ review of internal control over financial reporting and obtain 

reports on significant findings and recommendations together with management’s responses. 
g) Understand the scope of internal auditor’s review of internal control over all other processes, and obtain reports on 

significant findings and recommendations, together with management’s responses. 
h) Review investigation and special assignment reports relating to any misconduct, conflict of interest and fraud and 

actions initiated to mitigate recurrences. 
i) Ensure remedial actions are in place and implemented as per deadlines set for the same. 

 
 

B-  NAME OF THE DEPARTMENT DIRECTOR, HIS QUALIFICATIONS AND DATE OF APPOINTMENT:   

• Mr. Mourad Ben Ali Saidani. 
• Qualifications: Master's degree in psychology and 2 parts of CIA. 
• Date of Appointment: 13 January 1996 
 

 

C-  NAME OF THE COMPLIANCE OFFICER, HIS QUALIFICATIONS AND DATE OF APPOINTMENT: 
 

• Mr. Adnan Sajwani.  
• Qualification: Bachelors, Business Administration. 
• Date of Appointment: 2 November 2019. 
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D- HOW THE INTERNAL CONTROL DEPARTMENT DEALT WITH ANY MAJOR PROBLEMS AT THE 

COMPANY OR THOSE THAT WERE DISCLOSED IN THE ANNUAL REPORTS AND ACCOUNTS   
 

The Internal Audit Control Department (IACD) is the fourth line of defense after Front Offices, Risk Management 
and Operational Management/Compliance functions. Internal Auditing and Internal Control is an independent, 
objective assurance and consulting activity designed to add value and improve the Bank's operations. It helps the Bank 
to accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness 
of risk management, control and corporate governance. 
 
Its objective is to help management with an analysis, recommendations and relevant comments concerning any phase 
of the business activity that will be of service in running the business more efficiently. IACD is considered as valuable 
resource to Executive Management & Board of Directors in accomplishing overall goals and objectives as 
strengthening internal control and organizational governance.  
 
The IACD conducts a review and assesses the effectiveness of management of risk and internal controls in all areas 
covered by the audits by: 
• Evaluating emerging technologies 
• Analyzing opportunities 
• Examining global issues  
• Assessing risks, controls, ethics quality and efficiency. 
• Assuring that controls in place are adequate to mitigate unforeseen risks & evaluating the Bank's internal controls, 

evaluating process performance identifying deviations from management KPI's, recommendations for process and 
control improvements to achieve organizational goal. 

• Assessing business requirements and objectives. 
• Evaluating evidence in connection with any business issues. 
• Review revenue Management and recognition 
• Review of procurement of goods and services inventory management and supplier engagement logistics 
• Provide Management and BOD assurance that: 

    a)  Financial & operational information are reliable, accurate and timely. 
    b) Compliance with applicable laws, regulations, internal policies and procedures. 
    c) Operations and programs are effective and efficient, and assets are safeguarded 
    d) Risks are identified, appropriate risk responses selected, communicated and managed  
    e)  Action plans for rectification of identified issues are in place. 

 
IACD adopted the following steps while performing all types of audits and checks:  
a) Risk identification,  
b) Risk assessment,  
c) Risk prioritization,  
d) Response planning and risk monitoring.  
 

Two factors are used to assess the exposure to risk:  
(i)  Loss frequency or probability and  
(ii) Loss severity. 
 

The IACD is a continuous operation covering also the five components of the internal controls system:  
 

(i)   Control environment 
(ii)  Risk assessment  
(iii) Control activities 
(iv) Information and communication  
(v)  Monitoring 
 
The IACD's scope does not end with the delivery of the findings report. Any critical observations are escalated to 
Management and Board Audit Committee to set further course of action. The aim of the Management team is for 
continuous improvement - with the internal audit function being the basis against which this objective can be 
measured. 

 
23-  Number of Reports Issued By the Internal Control Department to the Bank’s Board of Directors 
 

During 2022, Internal Audit department submitted 25 Reports to Audit committee during the year 2022. 
 

24-  Violation of Regulatory Requirements in 2022 
 

The bank was not exposed to any financial violations from the regulatory authorities during 2022. 
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25-   Contribution Made in 2022   

Statement of the cash and in-kind contributions made by the Bank in developing the local community and preserving the 
environment.   
NBQ has accepted Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) initiatives are one of the key strategic objectives during 
the year and for the future. The Bank has adopted ESG policies in line with the requirements as visualized by the UAE 
Vision and the global practices. NBQ has a corporate social responsibility strategy that focuses on several aspects such as 
empowering women, supporting people with special abilities, and promoting Emiratization. 

Bank has published the ESG report which provides details of other environmental, social and governance initiatives of the 
bank during the year 2022 which may be referred to the details.   

Major Highlights during the year 2022 are as follows:- 

 Bank has implemented systems to recycle to water the plans from the consumed water. 

 Our papers consumed as stationery are of recyclable quality as confirmed by our suppliers.  

 Paper consumption is reduced by 19.78% from year 2019 through prudent communication management.  

 Waste management has been implemented in Head Office and Dubai branches using differentiated Bins through 
professional companies.  

 Diesel consumption was reduced to Zero. 

 Papers were recycled which tantamount to saving 123 trees, 50 K gallons of water and 29,040 KWs of energy.  

 LED lamps were implemented in our Flagship branch and Head Office and replacement of Air Conditioners Chiller 
contributed to considering savings in Electricity consumption. 

 Saved 6.78% carbon footprint consumption compared to the previous year and petrol consumption reduced due to use 
of less number of vehicles from year 2019.   

 Implemented safety of our premises through our protection and security mechanisms. 

 Implemented ramps, wheel chairs, reserved parking for special needs at our branches and offices 

 Vendor management and vendors onboarding has improved their controls through compliance screening, monitoring 
their activities, local involvement in the ownership and management, sustainability initiatives. 

 Bank has contributed for social and environmental initiatives during the year which includes the community domain as 
well.      

 
The Bank has a corporate social responsibility strategy that focuses on several aspects such as empowering women, 
supporting people with special abilities, and promoting Emiratization. It is also keen on initiatives in the community.  
NBQ has supported many activities including but not limited to sports activities, traditional camel racing, sponsored Book, 
Sponsored official National day celebrations...etc  
 
 

Contribution During 2022 Related to Emiratization: 
 

Our Emiratization percentage has increased from 43.3% in 2021 to 45.80% in 2022.   
 

We have explained our community participation in detail in our Sustainability Report 2022 which is published separately. 
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26 - General Information      

a. Statement of the Bank share Price in the Market (Closing Price, Highest Price, and Lowest Price) at the end of 
each Month During the Fiscal Year 2022. 

 

Month Highest Lowest Closing 
January 1.89 1.70 1.71 

February 1.85 1.61 1.85 
March 2.00 1.64 1.64 
April 2.00 1.80 2.00 
May 2.00 2.00 2.00 
June 2.00 2.00 2.00 
July 2.10 1.90 1.90 

August 1.82 1.82 1.82 
September 1.88 1.65 1.88 

October 1.88 1.60 1.83 
November 1.80 1.80 1.80 
December 1.80 1.70 1.79 

 

b. Statement of the Company comparative performance with the general market index and sector index to which the 
Company belongs during 2022.  

NBQ's share price registered a fall of 3.24% during the year. The ADX General Index registered growth of 20.29% y-o-y 
while at the same time ADX financial index (Sector Index) rose by 47.04% y-o-y.   

c. Statement of the shareholders' ownership distribution as of 31/12/2022 (individuals, companies, governments) 
classified as follows: local, Gulf, Arab and foreign:   

Sr. No 
Shareholders 
classification 

Percentage of owned shares 

Individuals Companies Government Total 

1 Local 38.4% 30.520% 30% 98.920% 

2 Arab 1.073% 0.0050% Nil 1.078% 

3 Foreign 0.001146% Nil Nil 0.001146% 
 Total    100% 

d. Statement of shareholders owning 5% or more of the Company's capital as of 31/12/2022 according to the following 
schedule:  

Sr. No. Name 
Number of owned 

shares 
Percentage of owned shares of 

the Company’s capital 
1 Umm al-Quwain government 600,000,037 30% 

2 Mr Salem Abdullah Salem Al Hosani 253,909,275 12.695% 

3 M/s Abdul Wahed Al Rostamani Group LLC 202,241,465 10.112% 

4 M/s. Barah Investment LLC 199,960,010 9.998% 

 
27-   Distribution of Shareholdings   

Statement of how shareholders are distributed according to the volume as on 31/12/2022:   
 

Sr. No. Share (s) Ownership 
Number of 

Shareholders 

Number of 
Owned 
Shares 

Percentage of Owned 
Shares of the Capital 

1 Less than 50,000 114 1,067,987 0.0534% 

2 From 50,000 to less than 500,000 47 9,168,035 0.4584% 

3 From 500,000 to less than 5,000,000 65 117,477,069 5.8739% 

4 More than 5,000,000 34 1,872,286,909 93.6143% 
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28-    Investor Relationship Officer and Communication 
 

Statement of measures taken regarding the controls of investor relationships and an indication of the following:-  
 

Name of the investor relationships officer and Data of communication with the investor relationships (e-mail- phone- 
mobile- fax):  

 
Name Alaa Khairy Dalia Saeed 

Direct No 06-7066748 06-7066858   
Email  Investor.relations@nbq.ae Investor.relations@nbq.ae 

 

29-   Special Resolutions Passed in the General Assembly 
 

Statement of the special decisions presented in the General assembly held during 2022 and the procedures taken 
in their regard: 

  
1) In AGM dated 14 March 2022: It was approved to amend the articles of the bank’s articles of Association to comply 

with Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021 regarding commercial companies and Corporate governance for Banks 
issued by Central Bank of UAE and related circulars and decisions, the  following are the  Amendments made to 
Articles of Association of National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain PSC: (Articles NO: 1 , 15 ,19 , 20 , 23 , 26 , 28 , 32 , 
33 , 34 , 37 , 40 , 41 , 42 , 43 , 44 , 46 , 47 , 48 , 50 , 51 , 54 , 58). 

 
2) In General assembly meeting dated 20/06/2022:  
 

a) Approving the Board of Directors proposal to increase the bank’s capital from AED 1,848,000,015  to AED 
2,000,000,000, through the issuance of 151,999,985 bonus shares at a rate of 8.225% of the bank’s capital 
distributed to the bank’s shareholders in proportion to the shares owned by each of them, bringing the bank’s 
capital after issuing the bonus shares to Two billion Dirhams in line with UAE Central Bank Circular No. 12 of 
2021 issued on April 25, 2021, which stipulates a minimum capital for national banks of no less than Two billion 
dirhams. 

b) Approving the Board of Directors proposal of amendment of Article (6) of the Bank’s Articles of Association 
relating to the “Bank’s Capital” in order to increase the capital from AED 1,848,000,015 to AED 2,000,000,000 
(Two billion dirhams) through the issuance of 151,999,985 bonus shares at a rate of 8.225% of the bank’s capital 
distributed to the bank’s shareholders in proportion to the shares owned by each of them. 

      
30-    Rapporteur of the Board Meeting 

 

Name of the rapporteur of the Board meetings: Dalia Saeed.  
Date of appointment as rapporteur of the Board meetings: 30 October 2018 (Date of Appointment in NBQ: 01/07/1997). 

 
 

31-    Major Events and Important Disclosures During 2022 
 

-Major events:  Nil for 2022. 
 

-A detailed statement of important disclosures that the Bank encountered during 2022: 
 

Increase the bank’s capital from AED 1,848,000,015 to AED 2,000,000,000. 
 

 

32     Related Parties Transactions 
 

A statement of the deals that the company has carried out with related parties during the year 2022, which are equal to 
5% or more of the company's capital: 
 

Related party transactions are reported in the Financial Statements for the year as per the normal disclosure requirements 
of the Bank. 

 
33-    Emiratization 

 
Statement of Emiratization percentage in the Bank at the end of 2020, 2021, 2022:  
 

Emiratization percentage is reported on a yearly basis  
 

 
Emiratization   
% 

2020 
 

2021 
 

2022 
 

42% 
 

43.3% 
 

45.8% 
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34-    Innovative Projects and Initiatives   

 
Statement of innovative projects and initiatives carried out by the Bank or being developed during 2022:  
 
 

In line with the bank's overall strategy, we continued to update technology platforms to ensure the latest features, high 
availability, performance, and compliance. We went live with Apple Pay to enable easy and secure payments to all NBQ 
customers. Various enhancements to the digital channel offerings also went live in this period ranging from mobile 
banking and IVR. We also invested significantly in the bank's Application Program Interface (API) infrastructure to 
enable seamless and secure integration internally as well as with external partners. This included implementing an 
industry-leading API solution for internal and external API management. We also upgraded our SWIFT infrastructure to 
comply with the latest MX standards. Further, implementing the state-of-the-art and industry-leading hyper-converged 
solution gives extreme flexibility, scalability, high availability, and performance which takes us one step closer to an 
internal cloud-ready infrastructure. Also, we invested in upgrading data security solutions and enabled more protection 
against ransomware attacks. On the compliance front, we completed the recertification of PCI DSS, made significant 
progress in UAE IA (NESA) standards, and complied with latest SWIFT Customer Security Controls Framework (CSCF). 
 

 

 

End of Report 
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Compliance

This report conforms to the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards and
the Abu Dhabi Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guidelines. Please refer to the
Content Index for further details.

Terminology

Terms such as “National Bank of
Umm Al Qaiwain”, “NBQ”, “the
Bank”, "we", "it", “our business”,
“our organisation”, “our company”
refer to the National Bank of Umm
Al Qaiwain (PSC). Unless
otherwise noted, all monetary
amounts reported in this report
are in United Arab Emirates
Dirhams (AED).

Assurance

The non-financial data in this
report are created and amended
by the relevant internal
stakeholders and validated via an
assurance procedure that
provides the Bank's stakeholders
with the essential level of
confidence in the data's
accuracy. The Financial
Statements are audited by an
independent third party (please
refer to the Financial Report 2022
for more information on this).

Scope 

This report details the activities of 
the National Bank of Umm Al 
Qaiwain (NBQ) and excludes data 
from its subsidiary Twin Towns 
Marketing Management L.L.C. 
except for financial metrics. . Unless 

otherwise specified, the report 
covers, to the maximum extent 
possible, all significant corporate 
actions from 1 January 2022 to 31 
December 2022, taking into 
account data constraints and the 
specified limits where applicable.

Contact

If you have any questions or
feedback on this report or NBQ's
sustainability activities,      please 

About this Report

www.nbq.ae

Sustainability Report 2022

We are delighted to welcome you to NBQ's Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESG) sustainability report for 2022. This
year has been a significant milestone in the National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain's P.S.C (NBQ) sustainability journey, as it has
established its ESG Committee, as well as its Sustainability Strategy. As a result, the bank was able to set out long-term,
medium-term, and short-term sustainability targets to create shared value for its stakeholders. 
NBQ is excited to share these new achievements with its stakeholders, and is confident that its efforts will translate into a
better future for its people and the planet.

Ms. Dalia Saeed
dalia.saeed@nbq.ae

Mr. Alaa Khairy
alaa.khairy@nbq.ae

contact NBQ at
nbq.sustainability@nbq.ae
For specific inquiries, please get
in touch with the key contacts
below:

+971 6 7066858

+971 06 7066748

mailto:nbq.sustainability@nbq.ae
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CEO's message

I am pleased to present the National Bank of Umm
Al Qaiwain (NBQ) Annual Environmental, Social and
Governance Report for 2022 (ESG Report), which
highlights our performance and key achievements in
environmental, social, governance and economic
practices. As a major financial institution in Umm Al
Qaiwain (UAQ) in the United Arab Emirates, NBQ
plays a key role in the economic transformation of
UAQ and other Emirates, providing products and
services to individuals, SMEs and corporates. Our
goal is to continue enhancing our competitive
position and maximise the positive contribution, we
make to stakeholders and communities.

As an organisation, we are inspired by the vision
and leadership of the United Arab Emirates in its
commitment to an inclusive, net-zero economy by
2050. The UAE is backing this ambition with
significant investments in clean and renewable
energy and by focusing on tourism as part of their
non-oil economy objectives. As we enter our next
phase of growth, we see sustainability as an
opportunity to support the national economic
agenda and meet the evolving needs of our
customers, while effectively managing risk to ensure
the long-term success of the bank.

We are committed to aligning our business goals
with a sustainability mindset, in line with global
standards and the UAE's Vision 2050. We are also
committed to publishing our sustainability agenda in
the future to align with the United Nations'
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and the
sustainability efforts of the United Arab Emirates.
While our initiatives may take time to mature and
produce tangible results, the purpose of this report
is to highlight the initiatives that demonstrate our
intent to create positive change and our
commitment to adopting sustainable banking
practices as prescribed by global standards, the
UAE and other regulatory bodies.

To support our ESG initiatives, we have created a
sustainability work team to measure performance
periodically and prepare disclosures that meet
industry sustainability standards.

We are confident about
the future and intend to
take bold steps to grow
stronger in our journey
towards sustainability.

At NBQ, we strive to enrich the lives of our
customers, communities, and colleagues. Therefore,
our success is not only measured by our financial
performance, but also by the extent to which we do
what is right, both in the short and long term.

We will address the challenges of balancing
business opportunities with ESG requirements to
meet global standards while maximising our
valuable contribution to the social, economic and
cultural development of the UAE and effectively
managing risk and opportunities.
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CFO's message

United Arab Emirates remains an attractive
destination, ably supported by a stable economy,
visionary leadership, innovative strategies, and its
capacity for a strong sustainable growth plan.
Following the global trends, guided by the set of
prestigious international bodies, UAE has begun to
focus on creating a sustainable setup, in response
to the challenges faced worldwide.

Aiming to have a positive Environmental, Social, and
Governance (ESG) impact, the National Bank of
Umm Al Qaiwain is set to align its metrics
framework, plan of action and foreseeable
roadmap, keeping sustainability in mind. As a result,
NBQ has tried to integrate all the efforts across the
bank towards sustainability-oriented actions,
upholding the belief that profitability and value
creation for the shareholders must be generated
with the right balance of social and environmental
responsibility.

NBQ has brought together
the collective participation
of the stakeholders in the
process toward a positive
impact on every sphere. 

Sustainability is envisioned to be an integral part of
NBQ's agenda, particularly in key areas such as
Strategic Planning, Asset Liability Management, Risk
Management and other internal management
processes. The Bank has conducted a materiality
survey with the participation of our stakeholders,
which provided strong results supporting the
direction on the sustainability front.  

This year’s report offers a snapshot of NBQ's
actionable measures and planned initiatives to
facilitate a commitment to inclusive and sustainable
growth, as dictated in the bank's vision and mission.
The efforts have been upheld, supported and
enhanced by the Board of Directors, the Chief
Executive Officer, and the management teams from
different functional domains.

To have a sustainable impact, NBQ being aware
that the future is digital, has planned its initiatives
based on a solid foundation of regulatory
compliance, ethical conduct, a robust risk
management system, and other essential industry
practices. 

K.G.Pradeep

Chief Financial Officer and
Acting Chief Operating Officer



Islamic BankingRetail Banking

Corporate Banking Network of 11 branches
across the UAE

Sound corporate governance

and consistently high capital

adequacy and liquidity ratios

demonstrate the Bank's

financial robustness.
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The National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (the "Bank"
or "NBQ") is a public shareholding company
founded on 5 January 1982 by Amiri Decree
Number (1) issued by His Highness, the Ruler of
Umm Al Qaiwain, and which commenced
operations on 1 August 1982. The Bank offers retail,
corporate, and Islamic banking services via its
eleven branches in the UAE.

The Group maintains a general reserve to
which the Board of Directors may contribute
at its discretion. This reserve may be utilised
for any purpose designated by an Annual
General Meeting decision of the Group's
shareholders.



Government of 
Umm Al Quwain

Salem Abdulla 
Salem Al Hosani

Public 
Shareholders

Group of Abdul Wahed 
Al Rostamani LLC

Barah 
Investment LLC

www.nbq.ae
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Ownership Structure 

The government of Umm Al Qaiwain is the Bank's primary partner and supporter. 
The Group is composed of the National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC) and Twin Towns 
Marketing Management L.L.C.

38% 30%

11.9%

10% 10.1%



Awards, Participation, and Recognition

2022

2022
Sponsoring a book
on H.H sheikh Saud
bin Rashid Al Mualla
on the occasion of 13
years of 
 achievements

www.nbq.ae
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2006 20122008 2010

2006 & 2007
Appreciation
certificate from
Zayed University

2013
Award
"The best call
centre of the year"

2006 
Emiratisation CEO –
Banking Sector

2008
Appreciation for NBQ's
support of the EIBFS 2008
Appreciation for NBQ's
support of the EIBFS for 25
years of progress

2010
Participation from
the UAQ medical
district for
sponsoring the
celebration of
International
Nursing Day

2012
The highest
percentage of
localisation in
the banking
sector

2013

2021 and 2022
Sponsoring Al Arabi
Sports & Cultural
Club 

2022
Sponsoring UAQ
camel racing which
was organized by
H.H. Sheikh Rahsid
Bin Saud Al Mualla
organizing events
office

2022
Appreciation letter from
the Ministry of Presidential
Affairs for NBQ’s
participation in dropping
the citizen's bad debt
remediation fund

2022
Appreciation
certificate from the
Department of
Tourism and
Archaeology in
Umm Al Quwain for
sponsoring the 51st
National Day
Celebration
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Vision, Mission & Values

Vision 

To be a bank of first choice, offering innovative financial 
services, built on trust and integrity and driven by a passion 
for excellence.

To maximise value and growth for all its stakeholders by
delivering premium banking services and attracting and
retaining its target customer groups.

The Bank bases its core
values on its people,
customers, and
performance.

Personal integrity
Open communications
Value and recognise teamwork

People
Orientation

Service excellence
Customer confidentiality
Meet and exceed customer
expectations

Customer
Orientation

Recognise and reward
outstanding
performance
Ensure continuous
productivity
Focused on efficiency
Delegate authority,
responsibility and
empowerment
Committed to learning
and development

Performance
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SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY

Sustainability Governance at NBQ

Alignment with National and Global Sustainability   

 Frameworks

Stakeholder Engagement

Materiality Matrix

NBQ Sustainability Framework



www.nbq.ae

13Sustainability Report 2022

Sustainability 
Strategy

In line with its visionary corporate culture and care for
stakeholders’ expectations, this year, NBQ established its ESG
Committee, as well as defined its new Sustainability Strategy
and Framework. This entailed a thorough stakeholder
engagement process, a materiality assessment and expert
consultation. The Bank's ESG Strategy is carefully thought out
in a way that naturally aligns with its governance model and its
business strategy.

Accordingly, its ESG Strategy entails four pillars that
encompass issues that are material to its business and its
stakeholders.

Sustainability
Governance at NBQ

BUSINESS 
EXCELLENCE 
AND CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE

GOVERNANCE, 
TRANSPARENCY 
AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

RESPONSIBLE
BANKING

EMPLOYEE 
DEVELOPMENT 
AND 
DIVERSITY



UAE Vision 2021

Competitive Knowledge Economy
Cohesive Society and Preserved Identity
First-rate Education System
Sustainable Environment and Infrastructure

UAE Centennial 2071

Fortifying the country’s reputation
Diversifying the imports and the exports by 

Investing in education focusing on advanced
technology
Building Emirati values and ethics for the future
generations
Raising productivity of the national economy
Enhancing society’s cohesion

       relying less on oil

UAE Circular Economy Policy
2021-2031

Achieve sustainable management of the
economy
Promote circular economy
Encourage the private sector to shift to
cleaner industrial production

UAE Agenda for Sustainable 
Development 2030

UAE Foreign Aid Initiative
UAE Sustainable Wildlife
Rehabilitation of Coastal and Marine Habitat
Initiative
Integrated Waste Management Initiative

UAE Net Zero Strategy 2050

Make the UAE the first Middle East and North
Africa nation to achieve net-zero emissions by
2050.
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NBQ proudly follow the steps of the national leadership in
working toward a better future for the UAE and the region.
It aligned its ESG strategy with the guiding principles of
the below nation-level initiatives established by
government authorities. 

Alignment with National
and Global Sustainability
Frameworks

National Agenda
UAQ Blue Economy Strategy 2031




Environment and Urban Planning
Economic Incentives and Business Environment
Improvement
Foreign Investment and Private Sector
Attraction



Ensure equal rights to access economic resources

As a bank, NBQ has a key role in advancing the economy
and fighting poverty by providing financial inclusion.

SDG 1 - NO POVERTY

Ensure inclusive and equitable quality education and
promote lifelong learning opportunities for all

NBQ has a track record of collaborating with local
educational institutions to attract young talent into the
financial sector. NBQ actively works to elevate the quality of
financial education in Umm Al Qaiwain.

SDG 4- QUALITY EDUCATION

Promote sustained, inclusive and sustainable economic
growth, full and productive employment and decent work for
all

NBQ directly contributes to the availability of decent work
opportunities in Umm Al Qaiwain, and promotes economic
growth.

SDG 8- DECENT WORK AND ECONOMIC GROWTH

Ensure sustainable consumption and production patterns

NBQ has an important role in promoting responsible
production and consumption via providing loans and
credits to companies in the manufacturing field. The Bank
will be integrating environmental and social responsibility
criteria in its Risk Management Framework to promote
more sustainable practices in its community.

SDG 12 - RESPONSIBLE PRODUCTION AND CONSUMPTION

Resilience and adaptive capacity to climate hazards and
natural disasters

The Bank recognises that it holds significant responsibility
in promoting climate action. It will be integrating climate-
related performance in its credit risk analysis and in all
other ESG practices to promote the transition to a low-
carbon economy.

SDG 13 - CLIMATE ACTION

Encourage and promote effective partnerships, building on
the experience and resourcing strategies

As a bank, NBQ's business is built on long-lasting
relationships. This is why it chooses to communicate
sustainability and ESG issues with its stakeholders to
promote sustainable development.

SDG 17 - PARTNERSHIP FOR THE GOALS

Achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls

The Bank is proud of its workforce with 45% female
employment. NBQ has zero tolerance for discrimination on
the basis of gender.  provides leadership opportunities to
performing female staff through continuous training and
empowerment.

SDG 5 - GENDER EQUALITY

Promote socio-economic inclusion, ensure equal
opportunities and end discrimination

NBQ has an impact on reducing inequalities by providing
equal opportunities to its employees, as well as its clients
from diverse backgrounds.

SDG 10 - REDUCED INEQUALITIES
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Global Agenda

As a responsible bank, NBQ 
understands the relevance and 
critical importance of tackling
global sustainability challenges. Its 
global-level ESG strategy is
guided by the United Nations’ 
Sustainable Development Goals
(UN SDGs).

Upon careful evaluation, the Bank identified the UN 
SDGs to which it directly contributes. This evaluation 
allows it to focus on the prioritised SDGs in the short-, 
mid- and long-term.



Investors

Non-governmental
organisations

Shareholders

Employees

Clients

Contractors

Government
authorities

Local communities

Business partners

Suppliers

www.nbq.ae

16Sustainability Report 2022

Stakeholder Engagement

In 2022, NBQ conducted its inaugural stakeholder engagement workshops 
and surveys to understand the needs, expectations and ambitions of the 
various groups it interacts with. These include its investors, shareholders, 
employees, clients, government authorities, contractors, local communities, 
non-governmental organisations, business partners and suppliers. The Bank 
interacts with these groups via continued engagement with meetings, 
communication circulars, surveys, the provision of services and community 
initiatives.

Stakeholders




 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 


BUSINESS 
EXCELLENCE 
AND CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE

GOVERNANCE, 
TRANSPARENCY 
AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

Responsible Banking

Responsible Procurement

Financial Inclusion and Accessibility

Community Investment

RESPONSIBLE
BANKING

EMPLOYEE 
DEVELOPMENT 
AND 
DIVERSITY
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NBQ conducted a thorough materiality assessment to identify and
prioritise the important environmental, social, and governance-related
issues for its business and its stakeholders. 

Materiality Matrix

Financial Performance

Customer Privacy & Data
Security

Governance, Business Ethics, & Compliance

Anti-corruptionResponsible Banking

Employee wellbeing

Systemic Risk Management

Customer Experience

Learning & Development

Emiratisation

ESG Risk Management

Financial inclusion and accessibility
Responsible procurement

Diversity and Inclusion

Community investment

Financial Performance

Customer Experience

Customer Privacy and Data Security

Governance, Business Ethics, and Compliance

Systemic Risk Management

Anti-corruption

ESG Risk Management

Employee Wellbeing

Emiratisation

Learning and Development

Diversity and Inclusion

Importance to stakeholders

Im
p

o
rt

a
n
c

e
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o
 b

u
s
in

e
s
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NBQ Sustainability Framework

Its Sustainability Framework sits naturally as a conclusion of its alignment
with national and global ESG standards, as well as the results of its
stakeholder engagement and materiality matrix exercises. The bank bases
the fundament of its sustainability framework on the four ESG pillars in a
manner that addresses all the material topics.

Legend

Important More Important Most Important
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 LEVEL 2
Chief Operating Officer

LEVEL 1
Head of Department/Unit

in Charge

 LEVEL 3
ESG Committee

 LEVEL 4
Senior Management

Escalation and Response to ESG

NBQ delegated each sustainability pillar and the material topics identified under 
them to its internal departments. In this way, the ESG Committee is accountable for 
tracking the progress of the Bank's environmental, social and governance-related 
projects, while its internal departments are responsible for executing them. Each 
Head of Department or Unit in Charge is responsible and/or accountable for the 
initiatives and deliverables that are drawn from its ESG commitments.

NBQ's new strategy is
governed by its ESG

Committee, which
comprises high-level

professionals, all experts
in their fields.



Roles and
Responsibilities

Material Topic R A C I

Financial Performance
Business Units,

Finance
Finance

Senior
Management

Board

Customer Experience Business Units Senior Management

Customer Privacy and Data Security
Business Units, IT, Information

Security
Senior Management

Governance, Business Ethics, Compliance,
and Anti-corruption

Board
Secretary

Board Ethics
Committee

Board

Systemic Risk Management Internal Audit
Risk

Management
ESG

Committee
Board

ESG Risk Management
ESG

Committee
Finance

Senior
Management

Board

Financial Inclusion and Accessibility Business Units, Credit, Finance Senior Management

Responsible Banking Business Units, Credit, Finance
Senior

Management
Board

Responsible Procurement GSU, IT, Finance Senior Management

Community Investment HR, Marketing Senior Management

Employee Wellbeing HR Senior Management

Learning and Development HR Senior Management

Emiratisation HR Senior Management

Diversity and Inclusion HR Senior Management
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BUSINESS 
EXCELLENCE 
AND CUSTOMER 
EXPERIENCE

GOVERNANCE, 
TRANSPARENCY 
AND RISK 
MANAGEMENT

RESPONSIBLE
BANKING

EMPLOYEE 
DEVELOPMENT 
AND 
DIVERSITY

The RACI Matrix specifies 

how the Bank assigned 

each material topic to 

concerned units, 

committees and 

management.

Accordingly, each 

responsible, accountable, 

consulted and informed 

party at NBQ actively 

contributes to the Bank's 

ongoing ESG journey.

[R - Responsible]   [A - Accountable]   [C - Consulted]   [I - Informed]
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BUSINESS EXCELLENCE AND
CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Financial Performance

Customer Experience

Customer Privacy and Data Security



cost to income ratio

increase in Net Profits

Highest Capital Adequacy
Ratio in the country

Non-Performance
Loans ratio

Following the nature of its business, it is important to highlight the key role
that financial performance plays in its essence. It not only enables the
continuity of its operations but also allows NBQ to carry out projects to
sustain environmental and social imperatives.

Highest Tier 1 Ratio in
the country

As a result of the confidence and assistance that its shareholders have shown
to the firm, it has been in the discipline of paying out dividends to
shareholders on a regular basis ever since its inception. Dividends are
distributed to the shareholders based on the approval obtained at the Bank's
Annual General Meetings.

Furthermore, the Bank recognises the importance of a financial institution like
NBQ in the overall economic growth of its community. NBQ is the privileged
supplier of banking products and services to its local community, including
the local government and businesses. It assists local firms in their growth by
providing financial assistance in the form of loans, advances, and working
capital financing; backing them with letters of credit and bank guarantees;
and supplying them with items and services that promote their development.

38%

28.93%

44.27%

9.46%

43.13%

www.nbq.ae
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BUSINESS EXCELLENCE
AND CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE

Financial performance

Since 2018, it has shown impeccable compliance

with the VAT requirements and has always

promptly reported to the tax office.
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2020 2021 2022 2020 2021 2022

Net profit

Net revenue

Total Assets

Total Income

Gross revenues

Loans

Deposits

Market Capitalisation
(In millions)

472.96

3,696

211.77

560.09

324.21

7,640.00

8,225.00

13,546.00

264.17

392.68

3,418.8

442.48

256.11

6,589.00

7,700.00

13,142.00

364.52

380.22

599.02

535.01

3,580.00

6,246.00

7,862.00

13,605.00
Capital Adequacy Ratio

Tier 1 Ratio

Common Equity Tier 1 Ratio

Dividend %

Net Interest Margin

Adjusted EPS (Fils)

Return on Tangible Equity

NPL Ratio

Impaired Loan Coverage Ratio (Prov+Collateral)

% of annual Profits donated to community purposes 0.07%

41.45%

40.34%

40.34%

8.00%

2.78%

0.11

4.47%

9.94%

167.84%

0.06%

44.66%

43.53%

43.53%

8.00%

2.42%

0.14

5.42%

8.60%

200.02%

0.02%

44.27%

43.13%

43.13%

10.00%

3.50%

0.19

7.02%

9.46%

183.10%

This year, the Bank's total assets increased by 463 million
AED, bringing the total to 13,605 million AED. It also
experienced a 162 million AED growth in client deposits
and a cost-to-income ratio of 28.93%, 6% lower than in
2021. 



The bank is pleased to announce that its Capital
Adequacy Ratio (44.27%) and Tier 1 Ratio (43.13%) are the
highest in the nation. 



As a result of the company's performance, NBQ has been
able to show its gratitude toward the community by
sponsoring and supporting local events and charities.

NET PROFIT (MILLION AED) COST TO INCOME RATIO

In AED Millions

364.52

264.17

211.77
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Loans and Advances in
Islamic Banking

Business Segments

The table below shows the outstanding balances from
transactions with related parties at the end of the
reporting date.

The loans, advances and Islamic financing receivables
given to related parties have been secured against
collateral amounting to AED 72.30 million (2021: AED
61.15 million). All loans and advances to related
parties are classified as Stage 1 (31 December 2021:
Stage 1) with corresponding Expected Credit Losses
(ECL) of AED 0.84 million (31 December 2021: AED 1.91
million).

Retail and corporate banking 

Retail banking comprises private customer
current accounts, savings accounts, deposits,
credit and debit cards, customer loans and
mortgages. Corporate banking involves
transactions with corporate bodies including
government and public bodies and comprises
loans, advances, deposits and trade finance
transactions.

Other segments consist of assets, liabilities, income and expenses attributable to either head office
or not directly related to business segments.

For more information on our financial performance, please see our Financial Report for 2022.

Treasury and investments

Incorporating the activities of the dealing
room, related money market, foreign exchange
transactions with other banks and financial
institutions including the U.A.E. Central Bank
and operations by the Bank’s Head Office as a
whole, none of which mutually constitute a
separate reportable segment.

2022

AED' 000

2021
AED' 000

Related parties (excluding key management)

Loans and advances and Islamic

financing receivables

Customer deposits and Islamic

customer deposits

Irrevocable commitments and

contingent liabilities

Key Management

Loans and advances and Islamic

financing receivables

Customer deposits and Islamic

customer deposits

-

822

82,996

205,706

2,750,770

Gross Income

Segment result

Segment assets 

Segment liabilities 
and equity

324,165

8,096,985

268,188

6,327,908

115,530

155,954

6,610,506

NIL

56,141

 (59,626)

666,708

5,508,137

495,836

364,516

13,605,122

13,605,122

Retail and

Corporate Banking


AED' 000

Treasury and

Investments

AED' 000

Others

AED' 000

Total
AED' 000

67,192

3,394,210

121,611

628

1,225
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Customer Experience

NBQ's customers are vital to the success of the company and improving 
their experience is one of the Bank's top priorities. NBQ's customer-
focused initiatives show how committed the Bank is to satisfying its 

clientele's needs and expectations.

Thanks to its diligent efforts, the

Bank was able to reduce

customer complaints over the

course of three years. This is a

significant achievement that

NBQ is proud to carry.

Responsible marketing and labelling

As a bank, NBQ is always on the client's side when it comes to service
definitions, as it recognises the intricacy of the services it offers.
Transparency is one of the Bank's major beliefs, which is represented
across its operations, including its marketing practices.

Its ongoing efforts to polish customer experience help NBQ staff
members become familiar with its service objectives and develop
their abilities to provide service excellence.



Customer Privacy
and Data Security

For NBQ, offering a banking experience characterised 
by excellence and cyber safety is one of its priorities. 
Therefore, in addition to the undoubted quality and 
positive customer experience, the Bank strives for its 
consumers to associate it with security and trust. A 
data security and privacy framework is essential for the 
Bank to establish a safe, trustworthy and enduring 
connection with its clients and other stakeholders.

The Information Security & Compliance Department of 
the Bank maintains data security and confidentiality 
according to global standards. Its data security 
systems and data privacy schemes safeguard client 
data stored by the Bank and adhere to compliance and 
regulatory standards. Internal and external parties 
undertake periodic evaluations and audits to assess the 
adequacy of the controls and report their findings to 
the Risk Department. Additionally, third-party 
contractors examine the control environment and 
identify any weaknesses, which are subsequently 
remedied by the Bank's management team.

NBQ has also committed to continuing its exemplary 
compliance with national and international standards 
and trained most of its employees in privacy and 
security matters.

NBQ has reinforced its

cybersecurity and

consumer information

protection via the

implementation of a

renowned information

security policy and

procedure.
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PCI DSS Certification 
(Payment Card Industry -
Data Security Standard)

UAE IA
(UAE Information
Assurance) 

Swift CSP
(Swift Customer 
 Security Programme) 

Roll-out of ApplePay to ease
secure digital payment of its
customers.

Exemplary compliance  with
international  standards

100%

Data Security Highlights
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Information security policies are the foundation of NBQ's security program which
gives necessary policy guidelines. Its policies are based on internationally
recognized Information Security Management System (ISMS) standards.

Policies along with relevant procedures help the bank to achieve the
preservation of Confidentiality, Integrity and Availability of its critical
information and related assets.

Confidentiality Integrity Availability

Fundamentals of NBQ's Data Security Policy
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GOVERNANCE, TRANSPARENCY 
AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Governance, Business Ethics and Compliance 

Anti-corruption

Systemic Risk Management

ESG Risk Management



Independent

members
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Governance, Business

Ethics, and Compliance
NBQ counts on a well-founded governance structure that provides the basis for
a robust value system to be implemented across the corporation. Consequently,
it encourages accountability and promotes transparent and efficient decision-
making at all levels. 

The Bank's Board of Directors, the focal point for high-level decision-making,
adheres to all pertinent national and international regulations and principles.
These include but are not limited to; the UAE Central Bank Corporate Governance
Regulation for Banks Circular No. : 83/2019, the Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 for
commercial companies, all relevant resolutions such as the Resolution No. (3/RM)
of 2020, as well as the internal Code of Conduct for Directors. 

Non-

independent


members

As per the previously stated Corporate governance regulation, the Board is
composed of seven non-executive board members out of which three are
independent members.

GOVERNANCE, TRANSPARENCY
AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Board

Board Composition

43% of the

Board

members are

independent

3

4



Risk 
Committee

Audit
Committee

Nomination 
and 
Remuneration 
Committee

Executive
Committee
/Credit
Committee

Management
Credit
Sub Committee

Real Estate 
Evaluation 
Committee
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Organisational Chart Internal Committees

Guiding the corporation, there are seven different decision-making 
committees. All seven committees have different sets of authority 
and levels of power and all of them comply with the pertinent 
regulations.



Further, as required, the evaluation of the Board's
performance lies in the hands of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee.
Following the Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 for
commercial companies’ article (29) - Resolution No.
(3/RM) of 2020, the bonus of the Chairman and
Members of the Board of Directors shall not exceed
(10%) of the profits for the Fiscal Year after
deducting all the depreciations and reserves. As
per regulation, these bonuses are independent of
any additional expenses, fees, bonuses or monthly
salaries the company may grant board members
following the policies proposed by the Nominations
and Bonuses Committee. 

The Bank appointed the Board of Directors as the
major stakeholder responsible for monitoring
compliance risks, including establishing
compliance-related policies and overseeing the
effective implementation of compliance
measures. In response to rising expectations from
the UAE Central Bank and other regulatory bodies
about the implementation of this regulatory
framework across all UAE institutions, the senior
management has expanded its engagement,
attention and monitoring of the Bank's overall
compliance standing. In accordance with
governance laws, the Compliance Department
serves as a second line of defense.

Establishing 
a culture 
of compliance

Providing the

appropriate

resources and

technology 
to implement

these policies and

procedures

Introducing the

appropriate set of

policies, processes

and procedures

Increasing staff
awareness across 
all business lines and
functions
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Board Evaluation and
Compensation

Compliance
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Anti-Corruption

The Bank, its subsidiaries and affiliates strive to conduct all business-related activities with responsibility, efficiency and integrity – and in a transparent manner 
towards all its stakeholders. The Bank has defined several essential policies to ensure professional conduct and assert zero tolerance for corruption.

The Bank has a clear insider trading policy to exert control over 
share movements caused by transactions by Bank insiders with 
access to non-public price-sensitive information. The policy 
requirements, instances of price-sensitive information and other 
limits are communicated to all insiders. ADX enforces the "no-
trade period" and prohibits insiders from trading Bank shares 
during this time. The Nominations and Remunerations Committee 
and the Board have adopted this charter, which applies to the 
Bank, its subsidiaries and its affiliates.

Anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy

The Bank, its subsidiaries, and its affiliates endeavour to execute all 
business-related operations with accountability, efficacy and honesty – 
and in a transparent way towards all of its stakeholders. The Bank 
establishes minimal requirements in accordance with UAE legislation 
and UAE Central Bank rules. This policy charter has been adopted by 
the Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the Board and 

applies to the Bank, its subsidiaries and its affiliates.

Code of Conduct
In accordance with the UAE Central Bank's regulations, all Bank 
employees and Directors must adhere to the Bank's professional 
code of conduct. The aim of the code of conduct, its application, 
reporting obligations, confidentiality and disclosures, the necessity of 
honesty and integrity and a list of infractions are outlined in this policy. 
To guarantee compliance, reporting processes are also described in full. 
The Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the Board have 
adopted this charter, which applies to the Bank, its subsidiaries and its 
affiliates. As of 2022, NBQ proudly has no records of breaches of the 

Code of Conduct.

Insider Trading Regulation

Whistleblower policy
The Whistleblower Policy describes its intent, scope, reportable 
offences and processes. The Bank protects confidentiality, and any 
false accusations are deemed to be a serious offence. The Bank 
maintains the strictest secrecy about reported occurrences, unless 
otherwise mandated by judicial proceedings or disclosure laws. The 
Nominations and Remunerations Committee and the Board have 
adopted this charter, which applies to the Bank, its subsidiaries and 

its affiliates.



Business Continuity
Processes
Personnel
Technology
Legal
Regulatory requirements
Information security

Systemic Risk Management

Interest Risk

Currency Risk

Market Risk

Liquidity Risk

Credit Risk

Systemic Risk
Management

Operational Risks

As a bank, NBQ constantly analyses, evaluates, accepts 
and manages a certain amount of risk or a mix of risks 
that come with conducting its various operations. Risk-
taking is at the heart of the financial industry and every 
company must deal with the inherent dangers of daily 
operations. The Group's objective is to strike a healthy 
balance between risk and return while limiting any 
negative impact on the business's bottom line.

The Bank takes these risks into 

account as part of its overall

strategic planning and risk 

management processes. 

Awareness, assessment and 

proper monitoring of these 

material risks are the main 

focuses of the risk management

plan. NBQ's continued attention is 

directed at the proactive 

improvement of its enterprise

risk management culture,

methods and procedures. 
For more information on NBQ's Systemic Risk 
Management structure, please refer to its Corporate 
Governance Report, as well as its Financial Report for 
2022.
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ESG Risk Management

ESG Risk Management standards are essential to NBQ since it 
represents the commitment to its stakeholders. As a result, it 
has opted to closely align its operations with worldwide risk 
management standards.

As a bank, it knows that financial inclusion and accessibility 
are important considerations when building products or 
deciding on distribution methods.

NBQ has created a set of procurement policies that adhere to 
the highest international standards while placing sustainability 
at the forefront of its decision-making. These processes 
include the Onboarding Vendors Assessment, which happens 
prior to vendor incorporation and the Vendors' Annual 
Assessment, which assists the Bank in ensuring that their 
values remain consistent with the values at NBQ.
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RESPONSIBLE BANKING

Financial Inclusion and Accessibility

Environmental Stewardship

Responsible Procurement

Community Investment



The Bank's Responsible Banking model encompasses four focus 
areas that reflect its efforts in acting as a responsible business 

Financial Inclusion and
Accessibility

Environmental Stewardship

Responsible Procurement

Community Investment
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NBQ has posed itself the goal of becoming a

sustainability leader and standing out for its integral

application of social and environmental sustainability

principles into its value creation process. As part of that

journey, the Bank has embedded best practice

examples into all areas of its business model.

RESPONSIBLE BANKING

www.nbq.ae



NBQ provides e-banking and
mobile banking channels for
improved client service and
easy accessibility as well as
ATMs for cash and check
deposits, and cash
withdrawals. 

NBQ's ATMs are conveniently
located in densely inhabited
and sparsely populated
locations in order to provide
greater coverage.

The Bank is in the process of
modernising its customer
relationship management
(CRM) software to
incorporate all service level
agreements with enhanced
deadlines as part of its
commitment to providing
superior customer service.

www.nbq.ae

Accessibility Highilights

ATMs are at a height
that allows wheelchair
users free access

Access ramps are
provided for easy and
smooth access

Bilingual literature materials
for visual guidance and
multilingual customer service
resources

ATMs are equipped with
sanitisers and are cleaned
frequently in accordance
with Covid-19 protocols
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Digitization continues to be one of the
primary tactics outlined in the digital
transformation plans and the driving
force behind NBQ’s consumer
commitment objectives. This
commitment focuses on client
acquisition, engagement and
experience, which is supported by plans
for digitisation and the development of
financial systems. 

Financial Inclusion
and Accessibility
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Environmental Stewardship

The Bank's approach to the environment is to reduce its 
environmental footprint while using its resources to the maximum 
efficiency possible. The Bank has taken multiple initiatives around 
different aspects of its impact on the planet as its commitment to a 
cleaner future.

NBQ pledges to enable a cleaner

future established around the

metrics of materials, waste,

water consumption, energy

consumption and reducing its

carbon footprint.

Nonetheless, its commitment does not end there, the Bank believes 
in the importance of continuous actualization and therefore it is 
constantly working to improve via the guidance of experts, 
innovation and best practice examples among peers in the sector.



123.42
trees 
saved

50,820
gallons

of water
saved

29,040
kW 

of energy 
saved

of paper recycled in 2022

7,260 kg

As a bank, its largest share of materials used is office supplies. These
are carefully selected keeping in mind the recyclability of the
materials and assessing the vendor’s positioning when it comes to
environmental imperatives. For example, when it comes to paper,  it
uses the A4 Navigator paper. The particularity of this paper is that
both, paper and packaging, are 100% recyclable.
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A4 PAPERS CONSUMPTION -SHEETS IN MILLIONS

* Given 200 being the average number of A4 paper sheets in a kg.

Materials

19.777%
reduction in paper consumption since 2019

62,250,000
sheets saved since 2019

Thanks to this fruitful partnership with ENDOSHRED, it
was able to recycle 7,260 kg of paper.

The Bank is aware that

waste generation and

the negative

implications of poor

waste management is

one of the world’s

greatest sustainability

challenges. Thus, NBQ

has taken a number of

measures to minimise

its waste and ensure

what is generated is

correctly managed. 

NBQ has waste segregation bins distributed in the Head
Office and Dubai Main Branch. This facilitates the
recycling of different materials, such as paper, which the
Bank recycles through concerned municipal services.

On the other hand, to ensure that the waste generated is
managed as per the highest standards, NBQ has
selected for its Dubai Main Branch a widely recognised
company (Dulsco) that works for its community and
strives for excellence, values the Bank identifies with.

Waste



Water
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conserving water
growing plants to
make the region
more ecologically
friendly.

NBQ has
accomplished two
aims by doing so:

WATER CONSUMPTION - THOUSAND GALLONS

584 plants

100% Using a recycling pump, 100% of the water utilised in the head
office is recycled and used to irrigate plants.

It watered 584 plants from the 727,980 Gln
utilised by the Head Office in 2022.

During the year 2022, NBQ utilised
727,980 gallons of water in its
headquarters. It installed a wastewater
treatment system, which recycles the
water used and reuses it to irrigate its
plants.



13.78%
decrease in 
petrol
consumption 
comparing 
to year 2019
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Energy and Carbon

NBQ has also decreased the number of company vehicles in circulation 
with the scope of reducing its petrol fuel consumption. Accordingly, 
the Bank reduced its consumption by 4,344.99 litres - 13.78%compared 
to 2019.

PETROL FUEL CONSUMPTION - THOUSAND LITRES

S
co

p
e 

1

S
co

p
e 

2

To reduce its energy consumption, the Bank has implemented a
Building Management System (BMS) in its Head Office. This system
enables it to manage electricity usage and air conditioning throughout
the building, consequently leading to reducing unnecessary
consumption of electricity. It has switched to LED lightbulbs in the
Head Office and the Dubai main branch. It has also installed a new air
conditioning chiller in its Head Office which allowed it to save on
electricity consumption. These changes allowed it to reduce its energy
consumption by 227,535  kWh, equivalent to 6.78% in its Head Office.

ELECTRICITY CONSUMPTION - KHW MILLION

CARBON FOOTPRINT FROM ELECTRICITY AND WATER 
- CO2-E KG MILIION

6.78%
decrease in 
CO2 emissions
comparing 
to year 2021
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presenting an ID and signing before entering the bank’s premises,
vendors being escorted by bank personnel,
general staff being prohibited from accepting gifts exceeding
AED200
and vendors being required to adhere to all safety protocols.

In addition, all suppliers must adhere to a set of regulations during the
entirety of their incorporation process in order to safeguard the safety
of all parties involved and prevent possible misconduct. These rules
include

NBQ has an internal control system to mitigate fraud and corruption. It
has also started screening its vendors through Compliance Department
(CIC) to guarantee the highest standards are applied when executing
vendor assessments. 
Additionally, it started analysing its vendors from a sustainability
perspective. In 2022, the Bank identified 53 local suppliers and
completed the screening for 28 vendors. The process is currently being
carried out and is expected to be concluded in 2023. 

Responsible Procurement

When NBQ engages a supplier or vendor, it recognizes that it also represents 
the organisation and its values.

To ensure that the values of its suppliers correspond

with the Bank's, it has enacted a policy that all vendors 

must adhere to. This policy emphasises the

importance of working with local suppliers as well as

having a sustainability agenda in place that 

corresponds with the UAE and worldwide vision.

Regarding its labour policies, NBQ closely adheres to

the highest international banking standards and

national legislation.

To promote a productive partnership that fosters trust and the generation of 
value for all of its stakeholders, NBQ has implemented a series of standards and 
rules prior to, during and post-vendor listing. Before listing potential vendors, it 
must conduct a background check as required by Anti Money Laundering (AML) 
regulations. The Bank evaluates the vendor's client list, activities, business licence, 
VAT, location, number of workers, data management, prices and scope of work.



In the coming years, leveraging on its strong sense
of corporate responsibility, NBQ will donate
specific amounts per quarter to increase its
potential for good impact.

This year, NBQ's inspiring and purpose-driven
workers volunteered a total of 195 hours in support
of corporate social responsibility initiatives.
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Community Investment 

Since its founding in 1982, the Bank's support to communities has been the 
cornerstone of its community development approach. It has collaborated 
with non-profit organisations and worked on community and civic 
development in the UAE through partnership programmes and sponsorships. 
Some examples include the Saud bin Rashid Al Mualla Charitable and 
Humanitarian Activity Institution, the Al Arabi Sports & Cultural Club, the 
Umm Al Quwain camel race and the 51st National Day Celebration in UAQ.

In 2022, NBQ actively took part in several activities supporting the national 
sustainable development agenda as well as social programmes.

The Bank feels privileged to have the opportunity to care for and support 
the growth of its local communities through financial assistance. In 2022, 
it ensured all its branches counted with wheelchairs to be used by customers 
and staff, as well as the infrastructure necessary to accommodate them such as 
ramps and reserved parking spaces.

Looking into the future, NBQ will be creating a program committed to 
securing funds for social and environmental causes that will nurture its 
people and the planet.

Moreover, as part of its approach to community development, the Bank 
proposes to allocate a reasonable amount which is expected to be more 
than the previous year.

195



Snapshots from NBQ's Community Engagement

UAE Flag Day Camel Race
Sponsorship

NBQ Compliance With PCI DSS

UAQ free zone
opening
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EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT AND
DIVERSITY

Employee Well-being

Learning and Development

Emiratisation

Diversity and Inclusion
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EMPLOYEE

DEVELOPMENT AND

DIVERSITY

Talented individuals

consist our workforce

different nationalities

Our Team at a Glance

male female

Emirati

31-50 years old
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Hospital
emergency care
services with the
assistance of
hospitals

Group policies
with substantial
compensation
for employees
with prolonged
serious illness or
incident

Parental leave

Flexible attendance
policies

Flexible nursing
hours for young
mothers

Comprehensive
medical insurance
from reputable
insurers

Health awareness
and medical leave
in accordance with
labour law
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Employee Well-being
As the Bank's most valuable asset, NBQ takes 
excellent care of its employees; their well-being 
both inside and outside of the workplace is of 
utmost importance to the Bank. 

NBQ has put in place a series of benefits, services, 
facilities and resources for the physical, emotional 
and financial well-being of its workers as well as 
formulated rules for employee welfare.

5 male employees took
paternity leave in 20225

10 female employees
took maternity leave in
2022

All employees who left
for paternal leave
returned to work 10

Male Female Total

Employees that took
parental leave

Employees who returned from parental leave and
remained employed twelve months after return 

NBQ is proud to highlight

that for the third

consecutive year, it had a

100% parental leave return

rate with all 15 employees

coming back.



1,142,254 AED 
spent 
on training in
2022

hours of learning
per employee

13.1
hours of learning
in 2022

4,338

Supporting the integral personal and professional growth of its people
is crucial to the organisation and its value creation. NBQ has
integrated on-the-job training with external training and courses so
that all of its employees can enhance their abilities and realise their
full potential.

In 2022, the Bank spent 1,142,254 AED on employee training. This
equated to a total of 3,833 hours of e-learning, or an exceptional 13.1
hours per employee. 89% of these training hours were delivered to
employees in middle management and non-management positions.
The training sessions covered multiple categories, including:
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Learning and Development

The primary strategic pillars of the 

Bank's training activities were agenda-

based and included upskilling, reskilling 

and skilling so that employees attained 

the necessary competency levels.

Anti Money Laundering
Information Security
Awareness

76%
of increase in total training
hours since 2020

89%
of the training was provided to
non-management and middle
management personnel

TOTAL TRAINING HOURS

Fraud Prevention & Detection
Harnessing Human Capital Mission
2022-2026 with Emirates Institute
of Banking and Financial Studies
(EIBFS) Learning Journey

TRAINING HOURS PER
EMPLOYEE CATEGORY



44% of the
workforce
is Emirati

87%
of the

Emirati
staff are

women

1/3
of the
senior

leadership
is Emirati
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The strength of NBQ's dedication has positively impacted its outcomes in 2022, as it has
increased the overall number of UAE citizens in its staff by 11% with a total of 142. The
Bank is pleased to highlight that from these 142 employees, 123 are women, constituting
87% of this group. 

Emiratisation

NBQ is mindful of the importance of Emiratisation

to the nation's social and economic development. 

It recognizes its significance and has a deep

conviction in the immense potential of the nationals;

hence, it has set work policies to nurture and

develop this talent as its priority has always been

to equip UAE nationals with the means to progress

into leadership positions.
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Diversity and Inclusion

The Bank believes in equal opportunities for all individuals. It recognizes its
employees on the basis of their work, not their nationality or race. This year,
the company had the privilege to host over twenty nationalities, all of whom
were represented by exceptional individuals.

NBQ recognizes the significance of empowering

women, assisting minorities, and cultivating young

talent. The Bank celebrates its differences as

they are an asset to the organisation; they

enrich its corporate culture and guide it down

the path to value creation.

In an effort to support the younger generations,
the majority of its hires this year are under the
age of 30; in 2021 and 2020, most of its new
hires were between the ages of 31 to 50.

Thirty students were supported as part of
internship and student visits to encourage their
employment in the banking sector.

Male Female TotalEmployee Category

EMPLOYEES PER CATEGORY AND GENDER

NUMBER OF NEW HIRES IN 2022

Youth Employment

AGE GROUPGENDER

In 2022, it hired 12 females

under the age of 30,

a substantial number relative to

any other age or gender group.

18-30

31-50

51+

Male

Female
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NBQ's talented staff consists of 323 employees that
represent it throughout the Emirates. The Bank
believes it is important for its values to be reflected
in its workforce, so it has actively sought to increase
the number of women working in the industry. This
year, the number of female employees climbed from
138 to 146, representing 45% of its workforce, a
bigger proportion than that in 2021 and a significant
achievement for NBQ. This is a milestone for the
company that is immensely proud to share, but it will
continue to strive for equality in all areas.

NBQ would also want to highlight the equality
achieved between male and female employees in
non-management and middle management, with 133
male employees and 130 female employees. It is
currently working towards expanding this gender
parity across all areas of the management.

Gender Equality

Its "equal pay for equal work policy" incorporates all
these principles into a single statement of its
commitment to compensating all employees fairly
for comparable work, regardless of their gender,
age, or country of origin.



Fully compliant with 
health and safety
regulations100%
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Health and Safety

The Bank's employees are the powerful

engine behind its success and therefore,

ensuring their integral well-being, is one of

the priorities at NBQ.

In accordance with world-class best practices and legal 
standards, the Bank implements a set of rules and 
guidelines that outline the method to follow and the duties 
to fulfil in the occurrence of any workplace events. 
Specifically, its Business Continuity Management Systems 
(BCMS) manuals include all processes to be followed in the 
event of a disaster, ranging from crisis reporting to an 
evacuation reaction plan.

Its trained and certified security personnel and Crisis 
Management Team are responsible for ensuring the 
physical safety of all workers and customers in its facilities. 

Currently, the Bank holds UAE Civil Defense Safety 
Certificates for all NBQ branches. All of its workers have 
access to a first aid kit, a sterilised workplace, CCTV 
surveillance, 24-hour fire alarm systems, floor-by-floor fire 
marshals and simulated evacuation exercises to guarantee 
their safety. It also conducts regular maintenance of the 
firefighting systems.

The Covid-19 epidemic was a difficult time for various 
businesses, including the banking sector. However, this 
tumultuous era taught the Bank a number of lessons that 
are now included in NBQ's ongoing Operational Health and 
Safety procedures.

As preventive steps in reaction to the Covid-19 outbreak, it 
implemented standards for safe social distancing at work, as 
well as the option to work from home and other places. All 
implemented measures adhere to the applicable national laws 
regarding Covid-19 measures. The number of instances among the 
Bank's staff has been kept under control and the negative impact 
on its operations, employees, and customers has been mitigated.

NBQ's trained and certified security

personnel and Crisis Management

Team are responsible for ensuring

the physical safety of all workers and

customers on its facilities.

Health and safety
incidents related to
non-compliance0

NBQ's goal is to grant its
customers the best and
safest banking experience 



GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

GRI 2: General
Disclosures 2021

2-1 Organizational details 04, 08, 56

S1
S4
S5
E8
E9
G8
G9

2-2 Entities included in the organization’s sustainability reporting 04

2-3 Reporting period, frequency and contact point 04

2-4 Restatements of information NA

2-5 External assurance 04

2-6 Activities, value chain and other business relationships 08

2-7 Employees 45-46

2-8 Workers who are not employees 45-46

2-9 Governance structure and composition 29

2-10 Nomination and selection of the highest governance body 28

2-11 Chair of the highest governance body 28

2-12 Role of the highest governance body in overseeing the
management of impacts

19

2-13 Delegation of responsibility for managing impacts 19

2-14 Role of the highest governance body in sustainability reporting 19

2-15 Conflicts of interest 31

2-16 Communication of critical concerns 18, 31

2-17 Collective knowledge of the highest governance body 31

2-18 Evaluation of the performance of the highest governance body 30

2-19 Remuneration policies 30

2-20 Process to determine remuneration 30

2-21 Annual total compensation ratio NA

2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy 13

2-23 Policy commitments 13-19

2-24 Embedding policy commitments 13-19

2-25 Processes to remediate negative impacts 31

2-26 Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising concerns 13-19,31

2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 30

2-28 Membership associations 10, 26

2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 16

2-30 Collective bargaining agreements

Omitted -
Collective
bargaining is
not allowed
within the UAE
laws
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GRI AND ADX INDEX

GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

Material Topics

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-1 Process to determine material topics
17

3-2 List of material topics

Economic performance
GRI 3: Material
T i 2021

3-3 Management of material topics
21-23

GRI 201:
Economic
Performance
2016

201-1 Direct economic value generated and distributed

201-2 Financial implications and other risks and opportunities due
to climate change

33

201-3 Defined benefit plan obligations and other retirement plans 45-50

201-4 Financial assistance received from government 09

Market presence

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics 48

S11GRI 202:
Market
Presence 2016

202-1 Ratios of standard entry level wage by gender compared to
local minimum wage

NA

202-2 Proportion of senior management hired from the local
community

48

Indirect economic impacts

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

14-15GRI 203:
Indirect
Economic
Impacts 2016

203-1 Infrastructure investments and services supported

203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

Procurement practices

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

41GRI 204:
Procurement
Practices 2016

204-1 Proportion of spending on local suppliers

Anti-corruption

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

31
G5

GRI 205: Anti-
corruption 2016

205-1 Operations assessed for risks related to corruption

205-2 Communication and training about anti-corruption policies
and procedures

205-3 Confirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken NA



GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference 

Anti-competitive behavior

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics NA 


GRI 206: Anti-
competitive
Behavior 2016

206-1 Legal actions for anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust, and
monopoly practices

NA 


Tax

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

21




GRI 207: Tax
2019

207-1 Approach to tax 


207-2 Tax governance, control, and risk management 


207-3 Stakeholder engagement and management of concerns
related to tax




207-4 Country-by-country reporting
NBQ is only
present in
the UAE




Materials

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

38 E7
GRI 301:
Materials 2016

301-1 Materials used by weight or volume

301-2 Recycled input materials used

301-3 Reclaimed products and their packaging materials

Energy

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

40

E3
E4
E5
E7

GRI 302: Energy
2016

302-1 Energy consumption within the organization

302-2 Energy consumption outside of the organization

302-3 Energy intensity

302-4 Reduction of energy consumption

302-5 Reductions in energy requirements of products and services

Water and effluents

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

39 E6GRI 303: Water
and Effluents
2018

303-1 Interactions with water as a shared resource

303-2 Management of water discharge-related impacts

303-3 Water withdrawal

303-4 Water discharge

303-5 Water consumption
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GRI AND ADX INDEX

GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

Emissions

GRI 305: Emissions
2016

3-3 Management of material topics

40

E1
E2

305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions

305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG emissions

305-3 Other indirect (Scope 3) GHG emissions NA

305-4 GHG emissions intensity NA

305-5 Reduction of GHG emissions 40

305-7 Nitrogen oxides (NOx), sulfur oxides (SOx), and other
significant air emissions

NA

Waste

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

38 E7
GRI 306: Waste
2020

306-1 Waste generation and significant waste-related impacts

306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts

306-3 Waste generated

306-4 Waste diverted from disposal

306-5 Waste directed to disposal

Supplier environmental assessment

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

41 E7GRI 308: Supplier
Environmental
Assessment 2016

308-1 New suppliers that were screened using environmental
criteria

308-2 Negative environmental impacts in the supply chain and
actions taken

Employment

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics 46-49

S3
GRI 401:
Employment 2016

401-1 New employee hires and employee turnover 49

401-2 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not
provided to temporary or part-time employees

46

401-3 Parental leave



GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

Labor/management relations

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics NA 


GRI 402:
Labor/Managem
ent Relations
2016

402-1 Minimum notice periods regarding operational changes NA 


Occupational health and safety

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

51
S7
S8

GRI 403:
Occupational
Health and
Safety 2018

403-1 Occupational health and safety management system

403-2 Hazard identification, risk assessment, and incident
investigation

403-3 Occupational health services

403-4 Worker participation, consultation, and communication on
occupational health and safety

403-5 Worker training on occupational health and safety

403-6 Promotion of worker health

403-7 Prevention and mitigation of occupational health and safety
impacts directly linked by business relationships

403-8 Workers covered by an occupational health and safety
management system

403-9 Work-related injuries

Training and education

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

47




GRI 404:
Training and
Education 2016

404-1 Average hours of training per year per employee 


404-2 Programs for upgrading employee skills and transition
assistance programs




404-3 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance
and career development reviews

NA 


Diversity and equal opportunity

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics
49-50

S2
S4
S6
G1

GRI 405:
Diversity and
Equal
Opportunity 2016

405-1 Diversity of governance bodies and employees

405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of women to men NA
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GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

Non-discrimination

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

49-50
GRI 406: Non-
discrimination 2016

406-1 Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken

Freedom of association and collective bargaining

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics
Omitted -
Collective
bargaining is not
allowed within
the UAE laws

GRI 407: Freedom of
Association and
Collective
Bargaining 2016

407-1 Operations and suppliers in which the right to freedom of
association and collective bargaining may be at risk

Local communities

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

13-14 and 42 S12
GRI 413: Local
Communities 2016

413-1 Operations with local community engagement, impact
assessments, and development programs

413-2 Operations with significant actual and potential negative
impacts on local communities

Supplier social assessment

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

41 G4GRI 414: Supplier
Social Assessment
2016

414-1 New suppliers that were screened using social criteria

414-2 Negative social impacts in the supply chain and actions
taken

Customer health and safety

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

25 - 26




GRI 416: Customer
Health and Safety
2016

416-1 Assessment of the health and safety impacts of product and
service categories




416-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning the health and safety
impacts of products and services




Marketing and labeling

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

24




GRI 417:
Marketing and
Labeling 2016

417-1 Requirements for product and service information and labeling

417-2 Incidents of non-compliance concerning product and service
information and labeling




417-3 Incidents of non-compliance concerning marketing
communications






GRI STANDARD DISCLOSURE LOCATION OMISSION
ADX ESG
Guidelines
Reference

Customer privacy

GRI 3: Material
Topics 2021

3-3 Management of material topics

25 - 26 G6GRI 418:
Customer Privacy
2016

418-1 Substantiated complaints concerning breaches of customer
privacy and losses of customer data

Topics in the applicable GRI Sector Standards determined as not material

Biodiversity

Indigenous Peoples

Child Labor

Forced and Compulsory Labor

Public Policy
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Management Discussion and Analysis Report - 2022 

Financial Overview 

National Bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (NBQ) has always pursued various initiatives to improve operational 
efficiency, enhance customers' convenience, and increase the bank's competitive strength in the UAE 
Banking Sector.  

This year, the bank has achieved a net profit of AED 364.52 million, 38% more than the net profit of last 
year. Net interest income for the whole year stood at AED 398 million, a 44% increase over the previous 
year, while operating income grew by 48% to AED 380 million. Total assets reached AED 13.61 billion, 
gross loans and advances were AED 6.58 billion, while customer deposits stood at AED 7.86 billion. 
Reflecting prudent management and effective monitoring of our loans and advances portfolio, the bank 
holds collateral and specific provision for 183.10% of the non-performing loans. Further, the bank has 
consistently maintained a high level of liquidity as in the past, and the liquidity ratio as of 31 December 
2022 stood at 50.06%, while the cost-to-income ratio is 28.93% compared to 34.81% in 2021, improved 
588 basis points on the year, which reflects the bank's operational efficiencies and disciplined cost 
management.  

As a testament to the bank's financial capability, lending, and investment capacity as of 31 December 2022, 
the shareholders' equity amounted to AED 5.32 billion. The bank maintains one of the highest capital 
adequacy ratios in the banking industry at 44.27%. This is significantly higher than the minimum levels 
prescribed by the Central Bank of the UAE. Moreover, the Tier 1 ratio stands at 43.13%, which is also 
substantially higher than the defined limits stipulated by the regulatory authorities. 

Economic Overview 

Central Bank of the UAE's latest estimates suggested a 7.6% growth in 2022 in the UAE's economy due to 
the robust performance of non-oil sectors, including tourism, hospitality, real estate, transportation, and 
manufacturing. The Central Bank predicted the non-oil GDP to grow by 6.1% while an 11% peak was 
expected in the oil GDP.  

International Monetary Fund (IMF) had projected the UAE's economy to grow by over 6.0% in 2022 on 
account of increased foreign investment inflow into the country after the Government successfully handled 
the pandemic, enhanced domestic activity, made sweeping visa reforms and allowed 100% foreign 
ownership of businesses. Visa reforms and the move to allow full foreign ownership in the businesses are 
expected to yield positive short-term and medium-term economic results. 

A closer look reveals that the crude oil prices rose significantly in the first half of 2022 due to the 
Russian- Ukrainian war coupled with the decrease in global crude oil inventory but declined in the 
second half of the year due to concerns about a possible economic recession. This reduced oil demand 
while supply from the US and International Strategic Petroleum reserves increased. Despite the odds, 
UAE economy managed to maintain an average price of USD 100/- per barrel in 2022.  
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In 2023, oil prices will likely average around USD 89/- per barrel due to high inflation and rising interest 
rates, dampening the oil demand. Simultaneously surging COVID-19 cases in China have been depressing 
the outlook for oil demand growth in 2023. OPEC+ is expected to increase oil production in the event of 
Russia's severe drop in production due to western sanctions on Russian oil, which will favorably affect the 
UAE.  

GCC stock markets registered decent growth in 2022, while ADX registered a 20.3% y-o-y growth and 
DFM gained 4.4%. New listings in the UAE and Saudi Arabia have seen strong investor interest, fetching 
USD 18 billion in 2022. During 2023, over 11 companies are lined up to be listed on the ADX, making the 
Middle East a bright spot in the Initial Public Offerings market. Additionally, the stock markets are expected 
to see an upside trend in 2023 due to expected better corporate earnings growth. 

The interest rate increase is likely to continue in 2023, if inflation remains above acceptable levels although 
at a reduced pace as compared to 2022. GCC Banks were expected to post robust results during 2022 due 
to potent economic activity, higher interest rates, and elevated oil prices. However, in 2023, the anticipated 
slowdown of the global economy could affect the region through lower oil prices. As local and international 
liquidity becomes less available, banks may face constraints in funding their growth strategies. 
Nevertheless, the banking system in UAE, particularly the NBQ, remains sufficiently well-placed to 
withstand any such liquidity crunch. This resilience stems from the fact that the bank has high governance 
standards and a clear strategy to enhance shareholder returns by grabbing growth opportunities in various 
business segments have provided positive results to the bank during the year. 

Treasury, Investments, and Institutional Banking 

NBQ's prudent investment strategy resulted in enhanced yields on its investments. Higher yields on the 
investment portfolio synchronised with the increase in market yields during the year. The bank's approach 
of safety, along with decent returns, has earned good income during the year through dividends from the 
equity portfolio, capital gains, and interest income from bonds, syndicated and bilateral loans. NBQ could 
maintain sound and stable income from the investment portfolio by adopting prudent investment policies 
and exit strategies, while internal reporting mechanisms were practiced mitigating risks on the exposures. 

Wholesale Banking 

In 2022, the Wholesale Banking Division (WBD) maintained a healthy and quality portfolio with a 
predominant focus on diversifying assets across multiple sectors, including but not limited to trading, 
services, and manufacturing. It is further committed to penetrating its wallet share into Government Related 
Entities (GRE) space through loan syndication and bilateral basis while augmenting its working capital and 
trade-financing book from existing and new customers. 

As a part of its diversification strategy and conscious attempt to disperse the portfolio from real estate 
concentration, Wholesale Banking Division (WBD) extended financing of creditworthy local corporates 
and multinational entities under its clean lending scheme on a selective basis, governed by the strictest 
credit underwriting guidelines, processes, policies and UAE CB regulations.  
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In 2022, WBD advanced a few high-quality real estate businesses with steady returns. With its pragmatic 
approach of portfolio switch, there is a temporary contraction in the real estate book; nevertheless, this 
initiative enabled WBD to comply with its regulatory requirements. 

At the end of 2022, Wholesale Banking Division (WBD) can confirm a sizable quantum of approved and 
un-disbursed pipeline being added to its portfolio with the tangible realization of benefits envisaged from 
early Q1-23 onwards.  

In the SME segment, National bank of Umm Al Qaiwain (NBQ) is fostering a great partnership with 
Emirates Development Bank (EDB); thereby committing to provide responsible financing assistance to the 
SME sector, which is crucial for the economy. However, given the inflationary pressures, a cautious outlook 
is maintained for SME businesses.  

Wholesale Banking Division (WBD) is also embarking on various digital initiatives to support business 
platforms and improve overall customer experience to reduce its cost of funding along with improved 
service quality. The bank implemented a dedicated Trade Finance Desk to ensure timely and quality 
customer service and focus on improving its fee-based income. 

WBD envisages healthy growth in its portfolio for the upcoming years in the light of fast-growing GDP, 
positive climate, and investor confidence, notwithstanding that WBD acknowledges the key challenge of 
maintaining a steady Net Interest Margin (NIM) owing to rising benchmark interest rates.   

Retail Banking Division 

Retail Banking Division provides individual customers with a wide range of options, offering enhanced 
products and services at competitive pricing. During the period under review, the bank modernized its 
branches to provide better facilities and service experience for its customers. This is in addition to digital 
banking, such as mobile and online banking services. The bank also added ATMs and CCDMs to its 
network of self-service teller machines allowing customers to carry out their banking requirements anytime 
and anywhere. The bank has made special efforts and all precautionary actions to follow UAE Government 
regulations to keep its customers and staff during the pandemic.   

Considering the prevailing market conditions, NBQ continued to be prudent in assessing customer requests 
for loans and exercising caution and care across all segments of customers. Profitability of retail asset 
products was a key focus area while considering lending proposals for long-term sustainability. 
Furthermore, the bank continued to comply with CBUAE regulations while catering smoothly to customer 
needs. 

Under the Islamic Banking front, the bank has set a limit for creating the Profit Equalization Reserve (PER) 
and Investment Risk Reserve (IRR). PER and IRR will not be applied once the reserve exceeds the limit. 
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Information Technology and Operation 

Year 2022 was significant for the technology enhancements and transformations. NBQ continued its focus 
on updating and upgrading applications and platforms to ensure the latest features, availability, 
performance, and compliance. The bank went live with Apple Pay to enable easy and secure payments to 
all NBQ customers. NBQ has gone live with various enhancements to the digital channel offerings, 
including mobile banking and Interactive Voice Response (IVR).  

The bank also invested significantly in the infrastructure to enable seamless and secured internal integration 
with external partners like Apple. This included implementing industry-leading infrastructure solutions 
from leading vendors for internal and external infrastructure management.  

During 2022, the bank completed the upgrade and updates of various business applications and achieved 
significant progress concerning the overall compliance posture of the organization by successfully 
upgrading Anti Money Laundering application along with necessary interfaces, which facilitated enhanced 
compliance and monitoring capabilities.  

The bank also completed various initiatives to achieve the Consumer Protection Regulations requirements 
and upgraded the SWIFT application to a higher version with improved technology standards. Significant 
achievements include recertifying PCI DSS for 2022 and implementing a state-of-the-art solution to our 
technology platform, which provide extreme flexibility, scalability, high performance, and availability. The 
bank has also invested in upgrading data security solutions to protect the bank from ransomware attacks 
and ensure our services to all internal and external customers through proactive monitoring and support 
services.   

Human Resources 

NBQ undertakes strategic initiatives to manage operations and mitigate risks and industry challenges, 
focusing on improving performance and profitability. The bank conducts detailed evaluations of staff 
requirements to utilize and optimize human resources for strategic and operational requirements, which 
facilitate the bank, to reward and retain talented people to improve operational efficiency and performance. 

The bank maintains a high ratio of UAE nationals in its workforce and complies with the regulator's 
requirements to empower them in leadership and decision-making roles. Constant reviews of the bank's 
internal policies and strategic vision are undertaken to maintain a motivated UAE national workforce. 

Human Resources and Emiratization Department values training, talent identification, mentoring, career 
planning, and succession planning as key objectives to motivate the workforce and retain and attract diverse 
talent. Retention of staff members and succession planning of key positions are being handled with 
Emiratization as a main focus to maintain the regulatory thresholds and maintain operations in a smooth, 
robust, and efficient manner. 



Page 5 of 11 

Corporate Governance 

NBQ believes in maintaining good corporate governance, risk management principles, internal control 
systems, and ethical standards commensurate with good governance industry practices, vision, and the 
bank's mission. 

In line with regulations and standards on corporate governance published in 2019 by the CBUAE and Abu 
Dhabi Securities (ADX), the NBQ's Board of Directors has revised its Board Charter and approved a 
cyclical three-year implementation plan to enhance its current corporate governance framework.  

The bank has taken all measures to enhance the concepts and policies related to internal controls, 
transparency, disclosures, insider trading, conflict of interest management, related party transactions and 
Sharia governance framework, and other corporate governance requirements.   

Transparency and disclosure requirements are vital factors the Board considers in its actions. They are 
fundamental to the compliance of governance practices and communicated with the senior management via 
appropriate communication forums and by approving the relevant charters.   

Governance Committees 

Board Meetings are conducted as per the Board Charter, Memorandum, Articles of Association, and Federal 
and Company Law provisions. A minimum of six board meetings are held yearly in line with requirements. 

Board decides the risk profile appropriate to the bank's growth strategy. It approves risk management 
strategies, policies, standards, and critical operational limits and delegates risk and governance-related 
responsibilities to its Board Level committees, viz., Executive Committee, Credit Committee, Audit 
Committee, Risk Committee, and Nominations Remunerations Committee. These committees discharge 
their duties based on the relevant charters approved by the Board. 

Audit committee handles issues related to internal control and internal audit issues and concerns. It meets 
periodically with an agenda and for critical items. Membership includes three independent and Non-
Executive Directors and the Management team; which includes Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer, Head of Internal Audit, Head of Risk, and Head of Compliance as invitees.   

Risk Committee ensures the effectiveness of the risk management processes and oversees the functions of 
Risk Departments. It meets periodically, and the membership includes three Independent Non-Executive 
Directors and the management team, which includes Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Head 
of Risk, and Head of Compliance as invitees.   

Nomination and Remuneration Committee has been delegated to handle all the functions related to Board 
Nominations, their remuneration, and fixing remunerations of Senior Management staff and other Human 
Resources-related strategic decisions. This committee comprises of Vice-Chairman, two Directors, and the 
representatives of Senior Management, constitute the members. 
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Executive Committee handles all the strategic and operational matters. This committee meets regularly, 
and decisions are taken which are beyond the powers of the Senior Management. The meetings are 
attended by the Vice- Chairman, and other Two Board members, Chief Executive Officer, and the 
relevant Senior Management team.

Credit-related committees are framed to approve credit facilities on wholesale and retail based on 
the approval limits set against each committee.   

Credit Committee comprises of three Bank Directors, and meetings are attended by the CEO, Head of 
Risk, and representatives from the Credit Approval Department and Wholesale Banking Division. Credit 
Sub Committe constitutes from the Vice-Chairman, and other Two Board members, Chief Executive 
Officer, and other Senior Management Members and representatives from Wholesale Banking Division.

NBQ has an efficient team of Senior Management officials who are experienced and qualified 
in discharging key management functions. They manage the bank's affairs professionally while 
managing internal control, compliance, and governance with a risk management focus. Board, through its 
committees, directs the Senior Management Team to apply due diligence and caution to protect the 
interests of the bank and its shareholders. 

The bank has different management committees to handle its functions under the chairmanship of the 
Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer. These include: 

⮚ Asset Liability Committee 
⮚ Compliance Committee 
⮚ Pre-Audit Committee 
⮚ IT Steering Committee 
⮚ Human Resources Committee 
⮚ Management Recovery committee 
⮚ Project Management Office (PMO) Committee 
⮚ Remediation Committee  

Directors Remuneration 

Each year, the Directors' remuneration is approved at the Annual General Meeting, paid after the year's 
close, and disclosed in the financial statements. Director's remuneration is proposed by the Nominations 
and Remunerations Committee.   

Information Security Framework 

NBQ emphasizes its information security by adhering to various national and international compliance 
standards and following Information security best practices. Information assurance of the bank is ensured 
by implementing controls based on UAE Information Assurance Standards (UAE IA). The bank is fully 
compliant with PCI DSS and SWIFT CSP standards. High priority is given for implementing security 
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advisories and recommendations provided by the CBUAE to ensure that organization's data is safe. The 
bank uses sophisticated security and auditing tools, updated policies, and processes to prevent, detect and 
mitigate threats to information assets. 

Internal Control Framework 

The internal Audit Control Department (IACD) is the fourth line of defense after Front Offices, Risk 
Management, and Operational Management/Compliance functions. 

Internal Auditing and Internal Control is an independent, objective assurance and consulting activity 
designed to add value and improve the bank's operations. It helps the bank accomplish its objectives by 
bringing a systematic, disciplined approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management, 
control, and corporate governance. 

Its objective is to help management with an analysis, recommendations, and relevant comments concerning 
any phase of the business activity that will be useful in running the business efficiently. 

IACD is considered a valuable resource to Executive Management and the Board of Directors (BOD) in 
accomplishing overall goals and objectives for strengthening internal control and organizational 
governance. 

IACD conducts periodic reviews and assesses the effectiveness of internal controls and management of risk 
in all areas covered by the audits by: 

⮚ Evaluating emerging technologies 
⮚ Analyzing opportunities 
⮚ Examining global issues  
⮚ Assessing risks, controls, ethics quality, and efficiency. 
⮚ Ensure that controls are adequate to mitigate unforeseen risks and evaluate the bank's internal 

controls. 
⮚ Evaluating process performance identifying deviations from management Key Performance 

Indicators, and recommending process and control improvements to achieve organizational goals. 
⮚ Assessing business requirements and objectives. 
⮚ Evaluating evidence in connection with any business issues. 
⮚ Review revenue Management and Recognition 
⮚ Reviewing procurement of goods and services inventory management and supplier engagement 

logistics 

IACD provides Management and BOD assurance that: 

a) financial and operational information is reliable, accurate, and timely.
b) compliance with applicable laws, regulations, internal policies, and procedures.
c) operations and programs are effective and efficient, and assets are safeguarded
d) risks are identified; appropriate risk responses are selected, communicated, and managed
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e) action plans for rectification of identified issues are in place.

IACD adopted the following steps while performing all types of audits and checks: 

a) Risk identification, b) Risk assessment, c) Risk prioritization, and d) Response planning and monitoring.

Loss frequency or probability and severity are two factors used to assess risk exposure. 

IACD is a continuous independent operational activity covering the five components of the internal controls 
system. These five factors are Control environment, Risk assessment, Control activities, Information & 
Communication, and Monitoring. 

IACD's scope does not end with the delivery of the findings report. Any critical observations are escalated 
to the Management and Board level Audit Committee for further action. The Management team aims for 
continuous improvement, with the internal audit function being the basis against which these objectives can 
be measured. 

External Auditors 

Ernst and Young, Middle East, was appointed as the External Auditor of the NBQ group for 2022 at the 
Annual General Meeting. The external auditor's appointment is made per the Article of Association. 

Risk Management 

In line with best practices, NBQ follows a well-defined organizational structure with Relationship Business 
Units as the first line of defense, Centralized Approval and Credit Risk Units as the second line of defense, 
and Credit Administration and Operations unit as the back office. These functions are segregated with clear 
reporting lines, providing a maximum level of risk assurance and management oversight to credit functions. 
The bank has well-laid-out credit risk policies and risk acceptance norms, which are followed at all levels. 
Risk policy manuals are updated continuously as per regulatory and emerging business requirements. The 
bank has implemented Moody's Credit Rating system for wholesale and SME lending. Acquisition of loan 
origination software is in process. The bank is in the process of acquiring a solution for the automation of 
Capital Adequacy Ratio computations and capturing Pillar 2 risks. 

Risk Containment Unit will track early warning signals and independent physical inspection of projects as 
part of proactive credit monitoring. Management of stressed accounts and non-performing loans are 
centralized. Exposure monitoring, including concentration levels at single obligor and sectoral levels, are 
monitored by Portfolio Management Unit. In addition, to ensure Corporate Governance, Risk Function 
reports to Board Risk Committee. 

Credit Risk 



Page 9 of 11 

NBQ assumes credit risk as part of its lending operations, which is identified as the risk that the counterparty 
will cause a financial loss for the Group by failing to discharge an obligation. Credit risk exposures arise 
principally in loans and advances due from banks and investment securities measured at amortized cost. 
There is also credit risk in off-balance sheet financial arrangements such as letters of credit, guarantees, and 
undrawn loan commitments. Credit risk management and controls are centralized in the Credit Risk 
Department with the following objectives: 

⮚  To measure, monitor and mitigate risks at the micro and macro levels. 
⮚  To facilitate building and sustaining a high-quality credit portfolio and minimize losses. 
⮚  Contain non-performing assets through preventive and curative management. 
⮚  To identify early warning signals and initiate timely corrective action. 

Credit Risk Department has various units, viz., Portfolio and Rating unit, Remedial Unit, and Risk 
Containment Unit. Internal risk rating systems are implemented to comply with IRB Foundation norms of 
Basel II. Remedial Unit and Risk containment units prevent the accretion of non-performing assets through 
timely action and maximize recoveries through vigorous follow-up, classification of delinquent exposures, 
and negotiating compromise proposals, wherever required.  

Market Risk 

Market risk for the Group refers to the potential losses resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign 
currency exchange rates, and prices of securities because of which the value of its on and/or off-balance 
sheet positions are adversely affected. Thus, the volatility in the market level of interest rates, foreign 
exchange rates, and investment prices exposes the Group's earnings and capital to risk. 

Market Risk department of the Group presents these risks to the Assets and Liability Committee (ALCO) 
regularly based on stipulated norms for Asset Liability Management, Interest rates, Forex, and Investments. 
ALCO committee takes corrective measures per the Group's internal market risk policies and strategic 
business directions. 

Liquidity risk is the current and prospective risk that the Group will be unable to meet its current or future 
obligations as and when they fall due. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit 
downgrades, which may cause specific funding source to dry up immediately. To guard against this risk, 
management continuously diversify funding sources and manage assets with liquidity in mind. Day-to-day 
funds management is done at Treasury to maintain a good position of liquid assets. Liquidity position is 
monitored and reported to top management daily. There are policies to measure and manage liquidity risk 
and monitor gap limits for its structural liquidity position regularly. The bank also monitors Eligible Liquid 
Assets Ratio (ELAR) and Advances to Stable Resources Ratio (ASRR) in line with UAE Central Banks' 
regulations for compliance with Basel III requirements. 

Bank's ability to meet its obligations and fund itself in a crisis scenario is critical, and accordingly, liquidity 
stress tests are conducted under different scenarios at monthly intervals to assess the impact on liquidity to 
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withstand stressed conditions. The bank has also implemented the Contingency Funding Plan (CFP) to 
manage liquidity in critical stress situations. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is managed through gap analysis. Tolerance limits have been fixed for impact on Net 
Interest Income (NII) due to adverse changes in interest rates. Economic Value of Equity (EVE) analysis is 
based on modified duration to measure the impact of interest rate changes on a bank's equity. Interest rate 
risk in the banking book (IRRBB) is also assessed and monitored by ALCO on a monthly basis. 

Bank also undertakes Interest Rate Sensitivity analysis based on its internal scenarios and its impact on NII 
monthly. 

Basel Implementation 

NBQ adheres to the CBUAE's Basel III compliance implementation guidelines, including the annual 
submission of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) report. The bank also complies 
with the CBUAE norms for the standardized approach to the computation of capital adequacy ratios. 

Stress tests are carried out to assess credit, liquidity, and interest rate risks in the banking book and equity 
price risks. Last year, test results revealed that the bank is comfortably placed in line with the risk profile, 
and there is a substantial buffer between available capital and regulatory capital to cover any unexpected 
losses from other risks. 

Operations Risk 

Operations Risk is "the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and 
systems or external events." Operational Risk is inherent in all business activities, and management of this 
risk is vital to the bank's strategic objectives. 

The bank has a comprehensive policy framework for managing operations through monitoring, assessing, 
evaluating, controlling, and mitigating risks arising from regular banking operations. This framework is 
enhanced by substantial compliance, monitoring, and governance, which includes active participation of 
Board of Directors, Executive Management, and business line management in the risk management process. 

Key controls and risk management strategies are as follows: 

⮚ implementation of manuals, processes, and controls to prevent, detect and mitigate specific 
operational risks exposed by the bank 

⮚ regular Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA) to assess key risks and all business units and 
departments. 

⮚ incident management processes to identify, assess, record, report, and manage actual operational 
and compliance events that have occurred through failed processes or events 
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⮚ management processes to identify, evaluate, record, report, and manage weaknesses or gaps in 
controls and to provide information on controls to new processes or services 

⮚ risks in process changes are assessed to effectively understand and manage risks from changes to 
business through automation projects or digital initiatives 

The bank has set up a Disaster Recovery (DR) site to ensure that its regular functions are not disrupted 
during a crisis. DR site is located away from the main processing center. A well-documented business 
continuity plan with clearly defined recovery procedures and preventive and corrective measures are in 
place.  

The bank has set up Fraud Monitoring Unit to reinforce its oversight of fraud attempts. Further, it is 
onboarding an enterprise-wide fraud monitoring system to prevent fraud incidents proactively. 

The bank maintains adequate insurance coverage for operational losses, which includes unexpected events 
such as fraud and dishonest actions of the insiders. Focus is also provided to formulate business continuity 
contingency plans utilizing offsite storage and backup systems. The regulatory risk capital charge 
concerning operational risk is computed using a basic indicator approach. Operations Risk streamlined 
processes and improved the turnaround time using the suggestions initiated by business focus groups, 
business champions, and the internal audit team. 

Community Relations 

NBQ has been consistently supporting and participating in social welfare measures in the emirate and taking 
valuable initiatives from a corporate social responsibility (CSR) perspective as well, in addition to the 
bank's sustainability agenda. It also provided valuable support to charitable, educational, social, sports, and 
other recreational initiatives undertaken by Government and socio-cultural organizations. 

Sustainability 

On sustainability, the bank has initiated environmental, social, and governance steps to maintain proper 
operational standards in the industry and meet the global standards and UAE vision. Board and Senior 
Management take sustainability measures as a key sustainability objective, and proper disclosures of the 
initiatives will be presented in a separate report. 

Conclusion 

Board of Directors and Senior Management appreciate and thank our shareholders for their continued 
support and backing, our customers for their continued support, trust, and loyalty shown through their 
business relationships, and finally, the Management Team and all staff members for their continued 
contribution, dedication, loyalty, and commitment. The bank also appreciates the guidance of the Central 
Bank of the UAE in managing our affairs and framing our strategies.   
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NATIONAL BANK OF UMM AL-QAIWAIN (PSC)

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of National Bank of Umm Al-Qaiwain (PSC)
(the “Bank”) and its subsidiary (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated statement of income, consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of cash flows and consolidated statement of changes in
equity  for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”).

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the International - Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “IESBA Code”) together with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Arab Emirates,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matter

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements.  The results of our audit procedures,
including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Expected credit losses (“ECL”) for loans and
advances and Islamic financing receivables
Refer to note 6 of the consolidated financial
statements.

The balance of loss allowances on loans and
advances and Islamic financing receivables
represents management’s best estimates, at the
balance sheet date, of the expected credit losses
under the expected credit loss models (“ECL
Models”) as stipulated by International Financial
Reporting Standard No. 9: Financial Instruments
(“IFRS 9”).

Management first assesses whether the credit risk
of loans and advances and Islamic financing
receivables to customers has increased
significantly since their initial recognition, and
then applies a three-stage impairment model to
calculate the ECL.

For loans and advances and Islamic financing
receivables classified in stage 1 (no significant
increase in credit risk) and stage 2 (with
significant increase in credit risk), loss
allowances are assessed using the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates key
parameters, including probability of default, loss
given default, exposure at default discount rates
and macro economic inputs.

For loans and advances and Islamic financing
receivables in stage 3 (default and credit-
impaired), loss allowances are assessed by
estimating the future discounted cash flows from
the loans.

Management has also applied significant level of
judgement in areas noted above in determining
the impact of economic volatility on the
allowances for credit losses by considering the
following:

1. forward looking information, including
variables used in macroeconomic
scenarios and their associated
weightings,

2. Stress in specific sectors and industries

We have obtained an understanding of
management’s assessment of impairment of
loans and advances and Islamic financing
receivables, the Group’s internal rating model,
the Group’s credit impairment provision policy
and the ECL modelling methodology.

We have performed process walkthroughs to
identify the controls over ECL process. We have
tested design and operational effectiveness of the
following internal controls relating to the
measurement of ECL:

- Review and approval of classification of
loans and advances and Islamic financing
receivables facilities.

- The management is regular monitoring of:
i) staging and ECL for loans and

advances and Islamic financing
receivables.

ii) identification of loans displaying
indicators of impairment (including
more than 90 days past due) under
stage 3.

iii) Macroeconomic variables and
forecast

iv) performance of ECL models

- The review and approval of management
overlays and the governance process
around such overlays.

- The model validation function.

We have performed the following substantive
audit procedures:

- Reviewed the reasonableness and
appropriateness of the methodology and
assumptions used in various components
of ECL modelling. This typically included
challenging key assumptions/judgements
relating to significant increase in credit
risk, definition of default, probability of
default, loss given default, recovery rates
and discount rate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
We considered ECL for loans and advances and
Islamic financing receivables as a key audit
matter as the determination of ECL involves
significant management judgement such as
categorisation of loans and advances and Islamic
financing receivables into stages 1,2 or 3,
assumptions used in the ECL model such as
expected future cash flows, macro-economic
factors etc. These judgments have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

- For selected samples, we performed
procedures to determine whether
significant increase in credit risk have
been correctly identified.

- For forward-looking measurements,
reviewed management’s selection of
economic indicators, scenarios and
application of weightings; assessed the
reasonableness of the prediction of
economic indicators and performed
sensitivity analysis.

- We have reviewed the impact on expected
credit losses on account of economic
volatility with specific focus on
reassessment of macroeconomic weights,
impact of financial stress on various
industries.

- For selected samples, we examined key
data inputs into the ECL models.

- We re-performed key elements of the ECL
calculations and evaluated the model
performance results for accuracy.

- We assessed the appropriateness of
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements against the requirements of
IFRS.

Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information consists of the information
comprises the Chairman report, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report and the Group’s
Annual Report 2022, which is which is expected to be made available to us after the auditor’s report date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.  If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in
this regard.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the consolidated financial
statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bank’s
Memorandum and Articles of Association and of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, and for
such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that:

the Group has maintained proper books of account;

we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of
our audit;

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material respects, with
the applicable provisions of the Bank’s Memorandum and Articles of Association and the UAE
Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021;

the financial information included in the Directors’ report is consistent with the books of account
and records of the Group;

investments in shares and stocks during the year ended 31 December 2022 are disclosed in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements;

note 27 reflects the disclosures relating to related party transactions and the terms under which they
were conducted;

based on the information that has been made available to us nothing has come to our attention which
causes us to believe that the Bank has contravened, during the financial year ended 31 December
2022, any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. (32) of 2021 or of its
Memorandum and Articles of Association which would materially affect its activities or its
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2022; and

note 38 reflects the social contributions made during the year.

Further, as required by the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, we report that we have obtained all the
information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit.

For Ernst & Young

Signed by:
Anthony O’Sullivan
Partner
Registration No. 687

07 February 2023

Sharjah, United Arab Emirates
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